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The attached financial statements for Beechworth Health Services have been prepared in accordance with Direction 5.2 
of the Standing Directions of the Assistant Treasurer under the Financial Management Act 1994 , applicable Financial 
Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting Standards including Interpretations, and other mandatory professional 
reporting requirements.

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the comprehensive operating statement, balance sheet, 
statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and accompanying notes, presents fairly the financial transactions 
during the year ended 30 June 2024 and the financial position of Beechworth Health Services at 30 June 2024.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance which would render any particulars included in the 
financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate.
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Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit 
of the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the health service’s internal control 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the health service’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the health service to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 
 
 
 

MELBOURNE 
26 September 2024 
 

Dominika Ryan 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 

 

 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Board of Beechworth Health Service 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of Beechworth Health Service (the health service) which 
comprises the: 

• Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2024 
• Comprehensive Operating Statement for the year then ended 
• Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended 
• Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended 
• Notes to the Financial Statements, including material accounting policy information 
• Board member's, accountable officer's, and chief finance & accounting officer's 

declaration. 

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the health service as at 30 June 2024 and their financial performance and cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of 
Part 7 of the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting 
Standards.   

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and 
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the health service in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in 
Victoria. My staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Board’s 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial 
report 

The Board of the health service is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial 
Management Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of a financial report that is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the health service’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 
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Total Total
2024 2023

Note $'000 $'000
Revenue and income from transactions 
Operating activities 2.1 21,112                      18,732                      
Non-operating activities 2.1 665                           434                           
Total revenue and income from transactions 21,777                      19,166                      

Expenses from transactions 
Employee expenses 3.1 (14,692)                    (14,226)                    
Supplies and consumables 3.1 (1,522)                       (1,742)                       
Depreciation and amortisation 3.1 (1,599)                       (1,552)                       
Other administrative expenses 3.1 (2,368)                       (1,573)                       
Other operating expenses 3.1 (1,146)                       (939)                          
Bad and doubtful debts expense 3.1 -                                (8)                              
Total Expenses from transactions (21,327)                    (20,040)                    

Net result from transactions - net operating balance 450                           (874)                          

Other economic flows included in net result
Net gain/(loss) on sale of non-financial assets 3.2 -                                2                                
Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments 3.2 (3)                              (1)                              
Other gain/(loss) from other economic flows 3.2 58                             (21)                            
Total other economic flows included in net result 55                             (20)                            

Net result for the year 505                           (894)                          

Other economic flows - other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to net result
Changes in property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus 4.3 13,355                      -                                

Total other comprehensive income 13,355                      -                                

Comprehensive result for the year 13,860                      (894)                          

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Comprehensive Operating Statement
Beechworth Health Services



As at 30 June 2024
 

Total Total
2024 2023

Note $'000 $'000
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6.2 12,825                      12,697                      
Receivables 5.1 969                           836                           
Contract assets 5.2 72                             -                                
Inventories 4.6 166                           166                           
Prepaid expenses 224                           88                             
Total current assets 14,256                      13,787                      

Non-current assets
Receivables 5.1 602                           624                           
Property, plant and equipment 4.1 (a) 38,884                      25,854                      
Right of use assets 4.2 (a) 13                             15                             
Intangible assets 4.4 (a) 1                                2                                
Total non-current assets 39,500                      26,495                      

Total assets 53,756                      40,282                      

Current liabilities
Payables 5.3 2,168                        1,481                        
Contract liabilities 5.4 9                                551                           
Borrowings 6.1 26                             3                                
Employee benefits 3.3 2,995                        3,062                        
Other liabilities 5.5 8,940                        9,345                        
Total current liabilities 14,138                      14,442                      

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 6.1 30                             76                             
Employee benefits 3.3 284                           320                           
Total non-current liabilities 314                           396                           

Total liabilities 14,452                      14,838                      

Net assets 39,304                      25,444                      

Equity
Property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus 4.3 36,061                      22,706                      
Contributed capital SCE 8,311                        8,311                        
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) SCE (5,068)                       (5,573)                       
Total equity 39,304                      25,444                      

Balance Sheet
Beechworth Health Services

This balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 



Total Total
2024 2023

Note $'000 $'000
Cash Flows from operating activities 
Operating grants from State Government 8,022                         9,628                         
Operating grants from Commonwealth Government 7,560                         5,557                         
Capital grants from government - State Government 942                            81                              
Patient fees received 2,314                         2,070                         
Donations and bequests received 14                              20                              
Interest and investment income received 665                            434                            
Commercial Income Received 1,325                         1,246                         
Movement in Monies Held in Trust 5                                7                                
Other receipts 525                            588                            
Total receipts 21,372                      19,631                      

Payments to employees (13,968)                     (14,054)                     
Payments to contractors and consultants (544)                           (27)                             
Payments for supplies and consumables (1,338)                       (1,336)                       
Payments for medical indemnity insurance (48)                             (38)                             
Payments for repairs and maintenance (760)                           (625)                           
GST paid to ATO (83)                             (15)                             
Other payments (2,842)                       (1,780)                       
Total payments (19,583)                     (17,875)                     

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 8.1 1,789                        1,756                        

Cash Flows from investing activities 
Purchase of non-financial assets (1,270)                       (583)                           
Purchase of Intangible assets (1)                               -                                 
Proceeds from sale of non-financial assets -                                 8                                
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities (1,271)                       (575)                           

Cash flows from financing activities 
Repayment of borrowings (26)                             (15)                             
Receipt of accommodation deposits 3,355                         4,462                         
Repayment of accommodation deposits (3,719)                       (2,217)                       
Net cash flows from /(used in) financing activities (390)                           2,230                        

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held 128                            3,411                        
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 12,697                      9,286                         
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 6.2 12,825                      12,697                      

Cash Flow Statement 
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2024

Beechworth Health Services

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



Total
Total Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Balance at 1 July 2022 22,706 8,311 (4,679) 26,338 
Net result for the year -                                -                                (894)                          (894)
Other comprehensive income for the year  -  -  -  - 
Balance at 30 June 2023 22,706 8,311 (5,573) 25,444 
Net result for the year  -  - 505 505 
Other comprehensive income for the year 13,355  -  - 13,355 
Balance at 30 June 2024 36,061 8,311 (5,068) 39,304 

Accumulated 
Surplus/(Deficits)

Beechworth Health Services
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2024

The statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Property, Plant and 
Equipment 

Revaluation Surplus Contributed Capital



Beechworth Health Services
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2024

Note 1: Basis of preparation
Structure

1.1 Basis of preparation of the financial statements
1.2 Abbreviations and terminology used in the financial statements
1.3 Joint arrangements
1.4 Key accounting estimates and judgements
1.5 Accounting standards issued but not yet effective
1.6 Goods and Services Tax (GST)
1.7 Reporting entity



Beechworth Health Services
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2024

Note 1: Basis of preparation

Note 1.1: Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars.

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in financial 
statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions. Apart from the 
changes in accounting policies, standards and interpretations as noted below, material accounting policies adopted in 
the preparation of these financial statements are the same as those adopted in the previous period.

The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis and are 
based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current 
assets, financial assets and financial liabilities.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis (refer to Note 8.9 Economic Dependency).

The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars. Minor 
discrepancies in tables between totals and sum of components are due to rounding.

The annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Beechworth Health Services on 19th 
September, 2024.

Beechworth Health Services is a not-for-profit entity and therefore applies the additional AUS paragraphs applicable 
to a "not-for-profit" health service under the Australian Accounting Standards. 

These financial statements represent the audited general purpose financial statements for Beechworth Health 
Services for the year ended 30 June 2024. The report provides users with information about Beechworth Health 
Services’s stewardship of the resources entrusted to it.

This section explains the basis of preparing the financial statements.

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with 
the Financial Management Act 1994  and applicable Australian Accounting Standards, which include interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). They are presented in a manner consistent with the 
requirements of AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements.

The financial statements also comply with relevant Financial Reporting Directions (FRDs) issued by the Department of 
Treasury and Finance (DTF), and relevant Standing Directions (SDs) authorised by the Assistant Treasurer.



Beechworth Health Services
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2024
Note 1.2 Abbreviations and terminology used in the financial statements
The following table sets out the common abbreviations used throughout the financial statements:

Note 1.3 Joint arrangements

Beechworth Health Services has the following joint arrangements:
•  Hume Region Health Alliance - Joint Operation

Details of the joint arrangements are set out in Note 8.7.

Financial Reporting Direction

Standing Direction
Victorian Auditor General’s Office

Interests in joint arrangements are accounted for by recognising in Beechworth Health Services’s financial statements, 
its share of assets and liabilities and any revenue and expenses of such joint arrangements.

SD
VAGO

FRD
NWAU National Weighted Activity Unit

Financial Management Act 1994

AASB
AASs
DH
DTF
FMA

Australian Accounting Standards Board
Australian Accounting Standards, which include Interpretations
Department of Health
Department of Treasury and Finance

Reference Title



Beechworth Health Services
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2024
Note 1.4 Material accounting estimates and judgements
Management make estimates and judgements when preparing the financial statements.

•  Note 2.1: Revenue and income from transactions
•  Note 3.3: Employee benefits and related on-costs 
•  Note 4.1: Property, plant and equipment
•  Note 4.2: Right-of-use assets
•  Note 4.4: Intangible assets
•  Note 4.5: Depreciation and amortisation
•  Note 4.7: Impairment of assets
•  Note 5.1: Receivables
•  Note 5.2: Contract assets
•  Note 5.3: Payables
•  Note 5.4: Contract liabilities
•  Note 5.5: Other liabilities
•  Note 6.1(a): Lease liabilities
•  Note 7.4: Fair value determination

These estimates and judgements are based on historical knowledge and best available current information and 
assume any reasonable expectation of future events. Actual results may differ.

Revisions to key estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future periods that 
are affected by the revision.

The material accounting policies and significant management judgements and estimates used, and any changes 
thereto, are identified at the beginning of each section where applicable and relate to the following disclosures:



Beechworth Health Services
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2024
Note 1.5 Accounting standards issued but not yet effective

AASB 2022-10: Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards - 
Fair Value Measurement of Non-
Financial Assets of Not-for-profit 
Public Sector Entities

Reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2024.

Adoption of this standard is 
not expected to have a 
material impact.

There are no other accounting standards and interpretations issued by the AASB that are not yet mandatorily 
applicable to Beechworth Health Services in future periods.

Adoption Date

Reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2024.

Reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2026.

An assessment of accounting standards and interpretations issued by the AASB that are not yet mandatorily 
applicable to Beechworth Health Services and their potential impact when adopted in future periods is outlined 
below:

Standard

AASB 2022-5: Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards - 
Lease Liability in a Sale and 
Leaseback

AASB 2022-9: Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards - 
Insurance Contracts in the Public 
Sector

Impact

Adoption of this standard is 
not expected to have a 
material impact.

Adoption of this standard is 
not expected to have a 
material impact.



Beechworth Health Services
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2024

Note 1.6 Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Commitments, contingent assets and contingent liabilities are presented on a gross basis.

Note 1.7 Reporting Entity 
The financial statements include all the controlled activities of Beechworth Health Services. 

Beechworth Health Service's principal address is: 

52 Sydney Road
Beechworth, Victoria 3747

A description of the nature of Beechworth Health Services’s operations and its principal activities is included in the 
report of operations, which does not form part of these financial statements.

Income, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost 
of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables in the Balance Sheet are stated inclusive of the amount of GST. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in the Balance Sheet. 

Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis, except for the GST components of cash flows 
arising from investing or financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the ATO.  These GST 
components are disclosed as operating cash flows.



Beechworth Health Services
Notes to the Financial Statements

for the financial year ended 30 June 2024

Note 2: Funding delivery of our services 

Structure

2.1 Revenue and income from transactions
2.2 Fair value of assets and services received free of charge or for nominal consideration

Material judgements and estimates
This section contains the following material judgements and estimates:

Beechworth Health Services applies material judgement to determine 
when a performance obligation has been satisfied and the transaction 
price that is to be allocated to each performance obligation. A 
performance obligation is either satisfied at a point in time or over time.

Beechworth Health Services applies material judgement to determine 
when its obligation to construct an asset is satisfied. Costs incurred is 
used to measure the health service’s progress as this is deemed to be the 
most accurate reflection of the stage of completion.

Determining timing of revenue recognition 

Determining time of capital grant income 
recognition

If this criterion is met, the contract/funding agreement is treated as a 
contract with a customer, requiring Beechworth Health Services to 
recognise revenue as or when the health service transfers promised 
goods or services to customers.
If this criterion is not met, funding is recognised immediately in the net 
result from operations.

Beechworth Health Services’s overall objective is to provide quality health service that support and enhance 
the wellbeing of all Victorians. Beechworth Health Services is predominantly funded by grant funding for the 
provision of outputs. Beechworth Health Services also receives income from the supply of services.

Description

Beechworth Health Services applies material judgment when reviewing 
the terms and conditions of funding agreements and contracts to 
determine whether they contain sufficiently specific and enforceable 
performance obligations.

Material judgements and estimates

Identifying performance obligations



Beechworth Health Services
Notes to the Financial Statements

for the financial year ended 30 June 2024

Note 2.1 Revenue and income from transactions 

Total Total
 2024 2023
 Note $'000 $'000
Operating activities
Revenue from contracts with customers
Government grants (State) - Operating 150                           66                             
Government grants (Commonwealth) - Operating 7,544                        5,542                        
Patient and resident fees 2,289                        2,131                        
Commercial activities 1 1,325                        1,246                        
Total revenue from contracts with customers 2.1(a) 11,308                      8,985                        

Other sources of income
Government grants (State) - Operating 8,424                        8,725                        
Government grants (Commonwealth) - Operating 16                             15                             
Government grants (State) - Capital 590                           81                             
Other capital purpose income 125                           109                           
Assets received free of charge or for nominal consideration 2.2 88                             298                           
Other revenue from operating activities (including non-capital donations) 561                           519                           
Total other sources of income 9,804                        9,747                        

Total revenue and income from operating activities 21,112                      18,732                      

Non-operating activities
Income from other sources
Other interest 665                           434                           
Total other sources of income 665                           434                           

Total income from non-operating activities 665                           434                           

Total revenue and income from transactions 21,777                      19,166                      
 

1. Commercial activities represent business activities which Beechworth Health Services enter into to support their operations.



Beechworth Health Services
Notes to the Financial Statements

for the financial year ended 30 June 2024

Note 2.1 Revenue and income from transactions (continued)

Note 2.1(a): Timing of revenue from contracts with customers
Total Total
2024 2023
$'000 $'000

Beechworth Health Services disaggregates revenue by the timing of revenue recognition.

Goods and services transferred to customers:
At a point in time 9,983                        7,739                        
Over time 1,325                        1,246                        

Total revenue from contracts with customers 11,308                      8,985                        

How we recognise revenue and income from operating activities
Government operating grants

When both these conditions are satisfied, the health service:

•  Identifies each performance obligation relating to the revenue
•  recognises a contract liability for its obligations under the agreement

•  recognises related amounts (being contributions by owners, lease liabilities, financial instruments, provisions, revenue or 
contract liabilities from a contract with a customer), and

▪  recognises income immediately in profit or loss as the difference between the initial carrying amount of the asset and the 
related amount in accordance with AASB 1058.

In contracts with customers, the ‘customer’ is typically a funding body, who is the party that promises funding in exchange for 
Beechworth Health Service’s goods or services. Beechworth Health Services funding bodies often direct that goods or services are 
to be provided to third party beneficiaries, including individuals or the community at large. In such instances, the customer 
remains the funding body that has funded the program or activity, however the delivery of goods or services to third party 
beneficiaries is a characteristic of the promised good or service being transferred to the funding body.

To recognise revenue, Beechworth Health Services assesses each grant to determine whether there is a contract that is 
enforceable and has sufficiently specific performance obligations in accordance with AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers .

▪  recognises revenue as it satisfied its performance obligations, at a point in time or over time as and when services are 
rendered.

Where the contract is not enforceable and/or does not have sufficiently specific performance obligations, the health service:

•  recognises the asset received in accordance with the recognition requirements of other applicable Accounting Standards 
(for example, AASB 9, AASB 16, AASB 116 and AASB 138)

If a contract liability is recognised, Beechworth Health Service recognises revenue in profit or loss as and when it satisfies its 
obligations under the contract.



Beechworth Health Services
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for the financial year ended 30 June 2024
Note 2.1 Revenue and income from transactions 

Government grant

Activity Based Funding (ABF) paid as 
National Weighted Activity Unit (NWAU)

Commonwealth Aged Care Funding

Capital grants

Patient and resident fees

 
Commercial activities

How we recognise revenue and income from non-operating activities
Interest Income
Interest income is recognsied on a time proportionate basis that considers the effective yield of the financial asset, which 
allocates interest over the relevant period.

This policy applies to each of Beechworth Health Service's revenue streams, with information detailed below relating to 
Beechworth Health Service's significant revenue streams:

Performance obligation

Patient and resident fees are charges that can be levied on patients for some services they receive. Patient and resident fees are 
recognised at a point in time when the performance obligation, the provision of services, is satisfied, except where the patient 
and resident fees relate to accommodation charges. Accommodation charges are calculated daily and are recognised over time, 
to reflect the period accommodation is provided.

Revenue from commercial activities includes items such as meal sales and provision of accommodation. Commercial activity 
revenue is recognised at a point in time, upon provision of the goods or service to the customer. 

Commonwealth Aged Care Funding is provided on behalf of residents who occupy our 
aged care facilities.  Funding is based on individual assessments for each resident and 
is paid on a monthly basis.  Adjustments are made based on revised assessments 
and/or variations in the number of days occupying our facility.  Revenue is recognised 
based on the entitlement earned on a daily basis.

Where Beechworth Health Services receives a capital grant, it recognises a liability for the excess of the initial carrying amount of 
the financial asset received over any related amounts (being contributions by owners, lease liabilities, financial instruments, 
provisions, revenue or contract liabilities arising from a contract with a customer) recognised under other Australian Accounting 
Standards. 

NWAU is a measure of health service activity expressed as a common unit against 
which the national efficient price (NEP) is paid.
The performance obligations for NWAU are the number and mix of admissions, 
emergency department presentations and outpatient episodes, and is weighted for 
clinical complexity. 

Revenue is recognised at point in time, which is when a patient is discharged.

Income is recognised progressively as the asset is constructed which aligns with Beechworth Health Services’s obligation to 
construct the asset. The progressive percentage of costs incurred is used to recognise income, as this most accurately reflects the 
stage of completion. 
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Total Total

   2024 2023
$'000 $'000

Cash donations and gifts 14                             20                             
Personal protective equipment 74                             278                           
Total fair value of assets and services received 
free of charge or for nominal consideration 88                             298                           

Donations and bequests

Personal protective equipment

Contributions of resources

Note 2.2 Fair value of assets and services received free of charge or for nominal consideration

How we recognise the fair value of assets and services received free of charge or for nominal consideration

Donations and bequests are generally recognised as income upon receipt (which is when Beechworth Health Services usually 
obtained control of the asset) as they do not contain sufficiently specific and enforceable performance obligations. Where 
sufficiently specific and enforceable performance obligations exist, revenue is recorded as and when the performance obligation 
is satisfied.

Under the State Supply Arrangement, Health Share Victoria supplies personal protective equipment to Beechworth Health 
Services for nil consideration.

Beechworth Health Services may receive resources for nil or nominal consideration to further its objectives. The resources are 
recognised at their fair value when Beechworth Health Services obtains control over the resources, irrespective of whether 
restrictions or conditions are imposed over the use of the contributions. 

The exception to this policy is when an asset is received from another government agency or department as a consequence of a 
restructuring of administrative arrangements, in which case the asset will be recognised at its carrying value in the financial 
statements of Beechworth Health Services as a capital contribution transfer.  
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Volunteer Services 

Non-cash contributions from the Department of Health
The Department of Health makes some payments on behalf of Beechworth Health Services as follows:

Supplier

Victorian Managed Insurance Authority

Victorian Health Buidling Authority

Department of Health

Beechworth Health Service recognises contributions by volunteers in its financial statements, if the fair value can be reliably 
measured and the services would have been purchased had they not been donated. 
Beechworth Health Service greatly values the services contributed by volunteers but it does not depend on volunteers to deliver 
its services. 

Note 2.2 Fair value of assets and services received free of charge or for nominal consideration

Beechworth Health Services receives volunteer services from members of the community to support and assist our residents in 
aged care and patients within the hospital setting.

Description
The Department of Health purchases non-medical indemnity insurance for 
Beechworth Health Services which is paid directly to the Victorian Managed 
Insurance Authority. To record this contribution, such payments are 
recognised as income with a matching expense in the net result from 
transactions.

Long Service Leave (LSL) revenue is recognised upon finalisation of 
movements in LSL liability in line with the long service leave funding 
arrangements set out in the relevant Department of Health Hospital Circular.

The Department of Health made payments to the Victorian Health Building 
Authority to fund capital works projects during the year ended 30 June 2024, 
on behalf of Beechworth Health Services.
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Note 3: The cost of delivering our services

Structure
3.1 Expenses from transactions
3.2 Other economic flows
3.3 Employee benefits and related on-costs
3.4 Superannuation

Material judgements and estimates
This section contains the following material judgements and estimates:

•  an inflation rate of 4.45%, reflecting the future wage and salary levels

All other entitlements are measured at their nominal value.

This section provides an account of the expenses incurred by the health service in delivering services and outputs. In 
Section 2, the funds that enable the provision of services were disclosed and in this note the cost associated with the 
provision of services are disclosed.

•  discounting at the rate of 4.348%, as determined with reference to market 
yields on government bonds at the end of the reporting period.

Material judgements and estimates

Classifying employee benefit 
liabilities

Description

Beechworth Health Services applies material judgment when measuring and 
classifying its employee benefit liabilities.

Employee benefit liabilities are classified as a current liability if Beechworth Health 
Services does not have an unconditional right to defer payment beyond 12 
months. Annual leave, accrued days off and long service leave entitlements (for 
staff who have exceeded the minimum vesting period) fall into this category. 

Employee benefit liabilities are classified as a non-current liability if Beechworth 
Health Services has a conditional right to defer payment beyond 12 months. Long 
service leave entitlements (for staff who have not yet exceeded the minimum 
vesting period) fall into this category. 

Beechworth Health Services applies material judgment when measuring its 
employee benefit liabilities.

Measuring employee benefit 
liabilities

The health service applies judgement to determine when it expects its employee 
entitlements to be paid. 
With reference to historical data, if the health service does not expect 
entitlements to be paid within 12 months, the entitlement is measured at its 
present value, being the expected future payments to employees.
Expected future payments incorporate:

•  durations of service and employee departures, which are used to determine 
the estimated value of long service leave that will be taken in the future, for 
employees who have not yet reached the vesting period. The estimated rates 
are between 9.14% and 79%
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Note 3: The cost of delivering our services

Structure
3.1 Expenses from transactions
3.2 Other economic flows
3.3 Employee benefits and related on-costs
3.4 Superannuation

Material judgements and estimates
This section contains the following material judgements and estimates:

•  an inflation rate of 4.45%, reflecting the future wage and salary levels

All other entitlements are measured at their nominal value.

This section provides an account of the expenses incurred by the health service in delivering services and outputs. In 
Section 2, the funds that enable the provision of services were disclosed and in this note the cost associated with the 
provision of services are disclosed.

•  discounting at the rate of 4.348%, as determined with reference to market 
yields on government bonds at the end of the reporting period.

Material judgements and estimates

Classifying employee benefit 
liabilities

Description

Beechworth Health Services applies material judgment when measuring and 
classifying its employee benefit liabilities.

Employee benefit liabilities are classified as a current liability if Beechworth Health 
Services does not have an unconditional right to defer payment beyond 12 
months. Annual leave, accrued days off and long service leave entitlements (for 
staff who have exceeded the minimum vesting period) fall into this category. 

Employee benefit liabilities are classified as a non-current liability if Beechworth 
Health Services has a conditional right to defer payment beyond 12 months. Long 
service leave entitlements (for staff who have not yet exceeded the minimum 
vesting period) fall into this category. 

Beechworth Health Services applies material judgment when measuring its 
employee benefit liabilities.

Measuring employee benefit 
liabilities

The health service applies judgement to determine when it expects its employee 
entitlements to be paid. 
With reference to historical data, if the health service does not expect 
entitlements to be paid within 12 months, the entitlement is measured at its 
present value, being the expected future payments to employees.
Expected future payments incorporate:

•  durations of service and employee departures, which are used to determine 
the estimated value of long service leave that will be taken in the future, for 
employees who have not yet reached the vesting period. The estimated rates 
are between 9.14% and 79%

Beechworth Health Services
Notes to the Financial Statements

for the financial year ended 30 June 2024

Note 3.1 Expenses from transactions 
Total Total

 2024 2023
Note $'000 $'000

Salaries and wages 12,385                      12,518                      
On-costs 1,287                        1,241                        
Agency expenses 544                           27                             
Fee for service medical officer expenses 202                           162                           
Workcover premium 274                           278                           
Total employee expenses 14,692                      14,226                      

Drug supplies 138                           96                             
Medical and surgical supplies (including Prostheses) 497                           718                           
Diagnostic and radiology supplies 9                                25                             
Other supplies and consumables 878                           903                           
Total supplies and consumables 1,522                        1,742                        

Other administrative expenses 2,368                        1,573                        
Total other administrative expenses 2,368                        1,573                        

Fuel, light, power and water 290                           284                           
Repairs and maintenance 640                           509                           
Maintenance contracts 120                           116                           
Medical indemnity insurance 48                             38                             
Expenditure for capital purposes 48                             (8)                              
Total other operating expenses 1,146                        939                           

Total operating expense 19,728                      18,480                      

Depreciation and amortisation 4.5 1,599                        1,552                        
Total depreciation and amortisation 1,599                        1,552                        

Bad and doubtful debt expense -                                8                                
Total other non-operating expenses -                                8                               

Total non-operating expense 1,599                        1,560                        

Total expenses from transactions 21,327                      20,040                      
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Note 3.1 Expenses from transactions 

How we recognise expenses from transactions
Expense recognition
Expenses are recognised as they are incurred and reported in the financial year to which they relate.

Employee expenses
Employee expenses include:

•  Salaries and wages (including fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, termination payments)
•  On-costs
•  Agency expenses
•  Fee for service medical officer expenses
•  Work cover premiums.

Supplies and consumables

Other operating expenses

•  Fuel, light and power
•  Repairs and maintenance
•  Other administrative expenses

Non-operating expenses

The Department of Health also makes certain payments on behalf of Beechworth Health Services. These amounts have been 
brought to account in determining the operating result for the year by recording them as revenue and also recording a 
corresponding expense.

Other non-operating expenses generally represent expenditure outside the normal operations such as depreciation and 
amortisation, and assets and services provided free of charge or for nominal consideration.

Supplies and consumable costs are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. The carrying 
amounts of any inventories held for distribution are expensed when distributed.

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations and include such things 
as: 

•  Expenditure for capital purposes (represents expenditure related to the purchase of assets that are below the capitalisation 
threshold of $1,000). 
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Note 3.2  Other economic flows included in net result
Total Total

 2024 2023
 $'000 $'000
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property plant and equipment -                                2                                
Total net gain/(loss) on non‑‑financial assets -                                2                               

Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows (3)                              (1)                              
Total net gain/(loss) on financial instruments (3)                              (1)                              

Net gain/(loss) arising from revaluation of long service liability 58                             (21)                            
Total other gains/(losses) from other economic flows 58                             (21)                            

Total gains/(losses) from other economic flows 55                             (20)                            

How we recognise other economic flows

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets

•  net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-financial assets
•  any gain or loss on the disposal of non-financial assets is recognised at the date of disposal.

Other economic flows are changes in the volume or value of an asset or liability that do not result from transactions. Other 
gains/(losses) from other economic flows include the gains or losses from:

•  the revaluation of the present value of the long service leave liability due to changes in the bond interest rates and

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets and liabilities includes realised and unrealised gains and losses as follows:
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Note 3.3 Employee benefits and related on-costs

Total Total
 2024 2023
 $'000 $'000
Current employee benefits and related on-costs
Accrued days off
Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months i 30                             34                             

30                             34                             

Annual leave 
Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months i 1,175                        1,166                        
Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly after 12 months ii 162                           198                           

1,337                        1,364                        

Long service leave
Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months i 176                           185                           
Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly after 12 months ii 1,059                        1,127                        

1,235                        1,312                        

Provisions related to employee benefit on-costs
Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months i 212                           160                           
Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months ii 181                           192                           

393                           352                           

Total current employee benefits and related on-costs 2,995                        3,062                        

Non-current provisions and related on-costs
Conditional long service leave 248                           279                           
Provisions related to employee benefit on-costs 36                             41                             
Total non-current employee benefits and related on-costs 284                           320                           

Total employee benefits and related on-costs 3,279                        3,382                        

i The amounts disclosed are nominal amounts.
ii The amounts disclosed are discounted to present values.
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Note 3.3 (a) Employee benefits and related on-costs

Total Total
 2024 2023
 $'000 $'000
Current employee benefits and related on-costs
Unconditional accrued days off 30                             34                             
Unconditional annual leave entitlements 1,550                        1,525                        
Unconditional long service leave entitlements 1,415                        1,503                        
Total current employee benefits and related on-costs 2,995                        3,062                        

Non-current employee benefits and related on-costs
Conditional long service leave entitlements 284                           320                           
Total non-current employee benefits and related on-costs 284                           320                           

Total employee benefits and related on-costs 3,279                        3,382                        

Attributable to:
Employee benefits 2,850 2,989 
Provision for related on-costs 429 393 
Total employee benefits and related on-costs 3,279 3,382 

Note 3.3 (b) Provision for related on-costs movement schedule
Total Total
2024 2023
$'000 $'000

Carrying amount at start of year 393                           312                           
Additional provisions recognised 175                           243                           
Unwinding of discount and effect of changes in the discount rate 6                                (2)                              
Amounts incurred during the year (145)                          (160)                          
Carrying amount at end of year 429                           393                           
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How we recognise employee benefits
Employee benefit recognition

Annual leave and accrued days off

•  Nominal value – if Beechworth Health Services expects to wholly settle within 12 months or
•  Present value – if Beechworth Health Services does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Long service leave
The liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:

•  Nominal value – if Beechworth Health Services expects to wholly settle within 12 months or
•  Present value – if Beechworth Health Services does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Provision for on-costs related to employee benefits

Conditional LSL is measured at present value and is disclosed as a non-current liability. Any gain or loss following revaluation of 
the present value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to 
changes in estimations e.g. bond rate movements, inflation rate movements and changes in probability factors which are then 
recognised as other economic flows.

Provision for on-costs such as workers compensation and superannuation are recognised separately from employee benefits.

Employee benefits are accrued for employees in respect of accrued days off, annual leave and long service leave for services 
rendered to the reporting date.

No provision has been made for sick leave as all sick leave is non-vesting and it is not considered probable that the average sick 
leave taken in the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future. As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as sick leave is taken.

Liabilities for annual leave and accrued days off are recognised in the provision for employee benefits as 'current liabilities' 
because Beechworth Health Services does not have an unconditional right to defer settlements of these liabilities.

Depending on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for annual leave and accrued days off are measured at:

Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current liability even where Beechworth Health 
Services does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months. An unconditional right arises after a qualifying 
period.
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Note 3.4 Superannuation

 Total Total Total Total
2024 2023 2024 2023
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Defined benefit plans:i

Aware Super 4                                7                                -                            -                            

Defined contribution plans:
Aware Super 649                           596                           -                            -                            
Hesta 248                           266                           -                            -                            
HostPlus 59                             66                             -                            -                            
Other 327                           306                           -                            -                            
Total 1,287                        1,241                        -                            -                            

How we recognise superannuation

Defined benefit superannuation plans

Defined contribution superannuation plans

Contribution Outstanding at Year End

Defined contribution (i.e. accumulation) superannuation plans expenditure is simply the employer contributions that are paid or 
payable in respect of employees who are members of these plans during the reporting period. Contributions to defined 
contribution superannuation plans are expensed when incurred.

The name, details and amounts that have been expensed in relation to the major employee superannuation funds and 
contributions made by Beechworth Health Services are disclosed above.

i The basis for determining the level of contributions is determined by the various actuaries of the defined benefit superannuation 
plans.

Employees of Beechworth Health Services are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and it contributes to both defined 
benefit and defined contribution plans. 

A defined benefit plan provides benefits based on years of service and final average salary. The amount charged to the 
Comprehensive Operating Statement in respect of defined benefit superannuation plans represents the contributions made by 
Beechworth Health Services to the superannuation plans in respect of the services of current Beechworth Health Services’s staff 
during the reporting period.  Superannuation contributions are made to the plans based on the relevant rules of each plan and 
are based upon actuarial advice.

Beechworth Health Services does not recognise any unfunded defined benefit liability in respect of the plans because the health 
service has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; its only obligation is to pay 
superannuation contributions as they fall due. 

The DTF discloses the State’s defined benefits liabilities in its disclosure for administered items. However superannuation 
contributions paid or payable for the reporting period are included as part of employee benefits in the Comprehensive Operating 
Statement of Beechworth Health Services. 

The name, details and amounts that have been expensed in relation to the major employee superannuation funds and 
contributions made by Beechworth Health Services are disclosed above.

Paid Contribution for the Year
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Note 4: Key assets to support service delivery

Structure

4.1 Property, plant & equipment
4.2 Right-of-use assets
4.3 Revaluation surplus
4.4 Intangible assets
4.5 Depreciation and amortisation
4.6 Inventories
4.7 Impairment of assets

Material judgements and estimates
This section contains the following material judgements and estimates:

▪  If the asset has become idle or if there are plans to discontinue or dispose of 
the asset before the end of its useful life

▪  If the performance of the asset is or will be worse than initially expected.
Where an impairment trigger exists, the health services applies material 
judgement and estimate to determine the recoverable amount of the asset.

Identifying indicators of impairment

The health service considers a range of information when performing its 
assessment, including considering:
▪  If an asset’s value has declined more than expected based on normal use

▪  If a significant change in technological, market, economic or legal environment 
which adversely impacts the way the health service uses an asset

Estimating useful life of property, 
plant and equipment

▪  If an asset is obsolete or damaged

At the end of each year, Beechworth Health Services assesses impairment by 
evaluating the conditions and events specific to the health service that may be 
indicative of impairment triggers. Where an indication exists, the health service 
tests the asset for impairment.

Beechworth Health Services controls infrastructure and other investments that are utilised in fulfilling its objectives and 
conducting its activities. They represent the key resources that have been entrusted to Beechworth Health Services to 
be utilised for delivery of those outputs.

Description

Beechworth Health Service assigns an estimated useful life to each item of 
property, plant and equipment. This is used to calculate depreciation of the asset.  
The health service reviews the useful life and depreciation rates of all assets at 
the end of each financial year and where necessary, records a change in 
accounting estimate. 

Material judgements and estimates
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Note 4: Key assets to support service delivery

Structure

4.1 Property, plant & equipment
4.2 Right-of-use assets
4.3 Revaluation surplus
4.4 Intangible assets
4.5 Depreciation and amortisation
4.6 Inventories
4.7 Impairment of assets

Material judgements and estimates
This section contains the following material judgements and estimates:

▪  If the asset has become idle or if there are plans to discontinue or dispose of 
the asset before the end of its useful life

▪  If the performance of the asset is or will be worse than initially expected.
Where an impairment trigger exists, the health services applies material 
judgement and estimate to determine the recoverable amount of the asset.

Identifying indicators of impairment

The health service considers a range of information when performing its 
assessment, including considering:
▪  If an asset’s value has declined more than expected based on normal use

▪  If a significant change in technological, market, economic or legal environment 
which adversely impacts the way the health service uses an asset

Estimating useful life of property, 
plant and equipment

▪  If an asset is obsolete or damaged

At the end of each year, Beechworth Health Services assesses impairment by 
evaluating the conditions and events specific to the health service that may be 
indicative of impairment triggers. Where an indication exists, the health service 
tests the asset for impairment.

Beechworth Health Services controls infrastructure and other investments that are utilised in fulfilling its objectives and 
conducting its activities. They represent the key resources that have been entrusted to Beechworth Health Services to 
be utilised for delivery of those outputs.

Description

Beechworth Health Service assigns an estimated useful life to each item of 
property, plant and equipment. This is used to calculate depreciation of the asset.  
The health service reviews the useful life and depreciation rates of all assets at 
the end of each financial year and where necessary, records a change in 
accounting estimate. 

Material judgements and estimates

Beechworth Health Services
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Note 4.1 Property, plant & equipment
Note 4.1 (a) Gross carrying amount and accumulated depreciation
 
 Total Total

2024 2023
$'000 $'000 

Land at fair value - Freehold 2,575                        2,451                        
Total land at fair value 2,575                        2,451                        

Buildings at fair value 34,412                      23,296                      
Less accumulated depreciation -                                (1,339)                       
Total buildings at fair value 34,412                      21,957                      

Works in progress at fair value 416                           382                           

Total land and buildings 37,403                      24,790                      

Plant and equipment at fair value 1,702                        1,364                        
Less accumulated depreciation (856)                          (750)                          
Total plant and equipment at fair value 846                           614                           

Motor vehicles at fair value 558                           558                           
Less accumulated depreciation (508)                          (485)                          
Total motor vehicles at fair value 50                             73                             

Medical equipment at fair value 1,397                        1,120                        
Less accumulated depreciation (962)                          (884)                          
Total medical equipment at fair value 435                           236                           

Computer equipment at fair value 281                           235                           
Less accumulated depreciation (234)                          (215)                          
Total computer equipment at fair value 47                             20                             

Furniture and fittings at fair value 245                           245                           
Less accumulated depreciation (142)                          (124)                          
Total furniture and fittings at fair value 103                           121                           

Total plant, equipment, furniture, fittings and vehicles at fair value 1,481                        1,064                        

Total property, plant and equipment 38,884                      25,854                      
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Beechworth Health Services
Notes to the Financial Statements

for the financial year ended 30 June 2024

Note 4.2 Right-of-use assets
Note 4.2(a) Gross carrying amount and accumulated depreciation

Total Total
 2024 2023

$'000 $'000

Right of use plant, equipment, furniture, fittings and vehicles at fair value 27                             25                             
Less accumulated depreciation (14)                            (10)                            
Total right of use plant, equipment, furniture, fittings and vehicles at fair value 13                             15                             

Total right of use plant, equipment, furniture, fittings and vehicles at fair value 13                             15                             

Total right of use assets 13                             15                             

Note 4.2(b) Reconciliations of the carrying amount by class of asset 

 
Right-of-use - PE, 

FF&V Total
Note $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2022 6                               6                               
Additions 12                             12                             
Depreciation 4.5 (3)                              (3)                              
Balance at 30 June 2023 4.2 (a) 15                             15                             
Additions 1                                1                                
Depreciation 4.5 (3)                              (3)                              
Balance at 30 June 2024 4.2 (a) 13                             13                             
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Beechworth Health Services
Notes to the Financial Statements

for the financial year ended 30 June 2024

Note 4.2 Right-of-use assets
Note 4.2(a) Gross carrying amount and accumulated depreciation

Total Total
 2024 2023

$'000 $'000

Right of use plant, equipment, furniture, fittings and vehicles at fair value 27                             25                             
Less accumulated depreciation (14)                            (10)                            
Total right of use plant, equipment, furniture, fittings and vehicles at fair value 13                             15                             

Total right of use plant, equipment, furniture, fittings and vehicles at fair value 13                             15                             

Total right of use assets 13                             15                             

Note 4.2(b) Reconciliations of the carrying amount by class of asset 

 
Right-of-use - PE, 

FF&V Total
Note $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2022 6                               6                               
Additions 12                             12                             
Depreciation 4.5 (3)                              (3)                              
Balance at 30 June 2023 4.2 (a) 15                             15                             
Additions 1                                1                                
Depreciation 4.5 (3)                              (3)                              
Balance at 30 June 2024 4.2 (a) 13                             13                             



Beechworth Health Services
Notes to the Financial Statements

for the financial year ended 30 June 2024

Note 4.2 (b) Reconciliations of the carrying amount by class of asset 

How we recognise right-of-use assets

Initial recognition

•  any lease payments made at or before the commencement date 
•  any initial direct costs incurred and

Subsequent measurement

Further information regarding fair value measurement is disclosed in Note 7.4.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at fair value, with the exception of right-of-use asset arising from leases with 
significantly below-market terms and conditions, which are subsequently measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses where applicable.

Right-of-use assets are also adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability (for example, when a variable lease payment 
based on an index or rate becomes effective).

•  an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is 
located, less any lease incentive received. 

Unless the lease is considered a short-term lease or a lease of a low-value asset (refer to Note 6.1 for further information), the 
contract gives rise to a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability.

Beechworth Health Service presents its right-of-use assets as part of property, plant and equipment as if the asset was owned by 
the health service.

When a contract is entered into, Beechworth Health Services assesses if the contract contains or is a lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and comprises the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, 



Beechworth Health Services
Notes to the Financial Statements

for the financial year ended 30 June 2024

Note 4.3 Revaluation Surplus

Total Total
2024 2023

Note $'000 $'000
 
Balance at the beginning of the reporting period 22,706                      22,706                      

Revaluation increment
 - Land 4.1 (b) 124                           -                                
 - Buildings 4.1 (b) 13,231                      -                                
Balance at the end of the Reporting Period* 36,061                      22,706                      

* Represented by: 
 - Land 2,305                        2,181                        
 - Buildings 33,756                      20,525                      

36,061                      22,706                      



Beechworth Health Services
Notes to the Financial Statements

for the financial year ended 30 June 2024

Note 4.4 Intangible assets
Note 4.4 (a) Intangible assets - Gross carrying amount and accumulated amortisation

 Total Total
2024 2023
$'000 $'000

Intangible produced assets - software 3                                7                                
Less accumulated amortisation (2)                               (5)                               
Total intangible produced assets - software 1                                2                                

Total intangible assets                                  1                                  2 

Note 4.4 (b) Intangible assets - Reconciliations of the carrying amount by class of asset 
Software Total

Note $'000 $'000
Balance at 1 July 2022 2                                2                                
Additions 2                                2                                
Amortisation 4.5 (2)                               (2)                               
Balance at 30 June 2023 4.4 2                                2                                
Additions 1                                1                                
Amortisation 4.5 (2)                               (2)                               
Balance at 30 June 2024 4.4 1                                1                                

How we recognise intangible assets

Initial recognition
Purchased intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. 

•  the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale
•  an intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it
•  the ability to use or sell the intangible asset
•  the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits

•  the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development. 

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period on which it is incurred.

Subsequent measurement

Intangible assets represent identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance such as computer software.

An internally generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is also 
recognised at cost if, and only if, all of the following are demonstrated:

•  the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the 
intangible asset and

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.



Beechworth Health Services
Notes to the Financial Statements

for the financial year ended 30 June 2024

Note 4.5 Depreciation and amortisation
Total Total

 2024 2023
$'000 $'000

Depreciation
Buildings 1,338                        1,339                        
Plant and equipment 118                           88                             
Motor vehicles 23                             24                             
Medical equipment 78                             63                             
Computer equipment 19                             15                             
Furniture and fittings 18                             18                             

Total  depreciation 1,594                        1,547                        

Right-of-use assets
Right of use - plant, equipment, furniture, fittings and motor vehicles 3                                3                                
Total Depreciation - right-of-use assets 3                               3                               

Amortisation
Software 2                                2                                
Total amortisation 2                               2                               

Total depreciation 1,599                        1,552                        

How we recognise depreciation

How we recognise amortisation
Amortisation is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life.

 
2024 2023

Buildings
 - Structure shell building fabric 10 to 40 years 10 to 40 years
 - Site engineering services and central plant 10 years 10 years
Central Plant
 - Fit Out 10 years 10 years
 - Trunk reticulated building system 10 to 16 years 10 to 16 years
Plant and equipment 3 to 7 years 3 to 7 years
Medical equipment 7 to 10 years 7 to 10 years
Computers and communication 3 years 3 years
Furniture and fitting 13 years 13 years
Motor Vehicles 10 years 10 years

All infrastructure assets, buildings, plant and equipment and other non-financial physical assets (excluding items under assets held 
for sale, land and investment properties) that have finite useful lives are depreciated. Depreciation is generally calculated on a 
straight-line basis at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated residual value over its estimated useful life.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term or useful life of the underlying asset, whichever is the shortest. Where a 
lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the health service anticipates to 
exercise a purchase option, the specific right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset.

The following table indicates the expected useful lives of non-current assets on which the depreciation and amortisation charges 
are based. 

As part of the building valuation, building values are separated into components and each component assessed for its useful life 
which is represented above.
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Note 4.6 Inventories

Total Total
 2024 2023
 $'000 $'000
Medical and surgical consumables at cost 56                             78                             
Pharmacy supplies at cost -                                27                             
General stores at cost 110                           61                             
Total inventories 166                           166                           

How we recognise inventories
Inventories include goods and other property held either for sale, consumption or for distribution at no or nominal cost in the 
ordinary course of business operations. It excludes depreciable assets. Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value.
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Note 4.7: Impairment of assets

How we recognise impairment

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, Beechworth Health Service estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Beechworth Health Service did not record any impairment losses against Property, Plant and Equipment for the year ended 30 
June 2024 (30 June 2023:Nil).

At the end of each reporting period, Beechworth Health Service reviews the carrying amount of its tangible and intangible assets 
that have a finite useful life, to determine whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.  The assessment will 
include consideration of external sources of information and internal sources of information.

If such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out. Assets with indefinite useful lives (and assets not yet available for 
use) are tested annually for impairment, in addition to where there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

When performing an impairment test, Beechworth Health Service compares the recoverable amount of the asset, being the 
higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use, to the asset's carrying amount. Any excess of the asset's carrying 
amount over its recoverable amount is recognised immediately in net result, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount.

Where an impairment loss on a revalued asset is identified, this is recognised against the asset revaluation surplus in respect of 
the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the cumulative balance recorded in the asset 
revaluation surplus for that class of asset.
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Note 5: Other assets and liabilities
This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from Beechworth Health Services's operations.

Structure

5.1 Receivables
5.2 Contract assets
5.3 Payables
5.4 Contract liabilities
5.5 Other liabilities

Material judgements and estimates

This section contains the following material judgements and estimates:

Measuring deferred capital grant 
income

Beechworth Health Services applies material judgement when measuring the 
deferred capital grant income balance, which references the estimated the 
stage of completion at the end of each financial year.

Beechworth Health Services applies material judgement to measure its 
progress towards satisfying a performance obligation as detailed in Note 2. 
Where a performance obligation is yet to be satisfied, the health service 
assigns funds to the outstanding obligation and records this as a contract 
liability until the promised good or service is transferred to the customer.

Material judgements and 
estimates

Estimating the provision for 
expected credit losses

Measuring contract liabilities

Beechworth Health Services uses a simplified approach to account for the 
expected credit loss provision. A provision matrix is used, which considers 
historical experience, external indicators and forward-looking information to 
determine expected credit loss rates.

Description

Where Beechworth Health Services has received funding to construct an 
identifiable non-financial asset, such funding is recognised as deferred capital 
grant income until the underlying asset is constructed.
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Note 5: Other assets and liabilities
This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from Beechworth Health Services's operations.

Structure

5.1 Receivables
5.2 Contract assets
5.3 Payables
5.4 Contract liabilities
5.5 Other liabilities

Material judgements and estimates

This section contains the following material judgements and estimates:

Measuring deferred capital grant 
income

Beechworth Health Services applies material judgement when measuring the 
deferred capital grant income balance, which references the estimated the 
stage of completion at the end of each financial year.

Beechworth Health Services applies material judgement to measure its 
progress towards satisfying a performance obligation as detailed in Note 2. 
Where a performance obligation is yet to be satisfied, the health service 
assigns funds to the outstanding obligation and records this as a contract 
liability until the promised good or service is transferred to the customer.

Material judgements and 
estimates

Estimating the provision for 
expected credit losses

Measuring contract liabilities

Beechworth Health Services uses a simplified approach to account for the 
expected credit loss provision. A provision matrix is used, which considers 
historical experience, external indicators and forward-looking information to 
determine expected credit loss rates.

Description

Where Beechworth Health Services has received funding to construct an 
identifiable non-financial asset, such funding is recognised as deferred capital 
grant income until the underlying asset is constructed.
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Note 5.1 Receivables

Total Total
 2024 2023
 Notes $'000 $'000
Current receivables
Contractual
Inter hospital debtors 269                           128                           
Trade receivables 164                           190                           
Patient fees 278                           303                           
Allowance for impairment losses - Patient Fees (32)                            (32)                            
Accrued revenue 164                           198                           
Amounts receivable from governments and agencies 18                             24                             
Total contractual receivables 861                           811                           

Statutory
GST receivable 108                           25                             
Total statutory receivables 108                           25                             

Total current receivables 969                           836                           

Non-current receivables
Contractual
Long service leave - Department of Health 602                           624                           
Total contractual receivables 602                           624                           

Total non-current receivables 602                           624                           

Total receivables 1,571                        1,460                        

(i) Financial assets classified as receivables(Note 7.1(a))

Total receivables 1,571                        1,460                        
Provision for impairment 32                             32                             
GST receivable (108)                          (25)                            

Total financial assets classified as receivables 7.1(a) 1,495                        1,467                        
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Note 5.1 (a) Movement in the allowance for impairment losses of contractual receivables

Total Total
 2024 2023
 $'000 $'000
Balance at the beginning of the year 32                             39                             
Increase in allowance -                                (7)                              
Balance at the end of the year 32                             32                             

How we recognise receivables
Receivables consist of:

Trade debtors are carried at the nominal amounts due and are due for settlement within 30 days from the date of recognition. 

Impairment losses of contractual receivables
Refer to Note 7.2 (a) for Beechworth Health Services’s contractual impairment losses.

•  Contractual receivables, including debtors that relates to goods and services and accrued revenue from Government 
agencies. These receivables are classified as financial instruments and are categorised as ‘financial assets at amortised costs’. 
They are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. The health service holds the 
contractual receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore they are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

•  Statutory receivables, including Goods and Services Tax (GST) input tax credits that are recoverable. Statutory receivables 
do not arise from contracts and are recognised and measured similarly to contractual receivables (except for impairment), 
but are not classified as financial instruments for disclosure purposes. The health service applies AASB 9 for initial 
measurement of the statutory receivables and as a result statutory receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus any 
directly attributable transaction cost. 

In assessing impairment of statutory (non-contractual) financial assets, which are not financial instruments, professional 
judgement is applied in assessing materiality using estimates, averages and other computational methods in accordance with 
AASB 136 Impairment of Assets .
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Note 5.2 Contract assets
Total Total
2024 2023
$'000 $'000

Current
Contract assets 72                             -                         
Total contract assets 72                             -                         

Total Total
  2024 2023

$'000 $'000
Balance at the beginning of the year -                                -                              
Add: Additional costs incurred that are recoverable from the customer 72                             -                              
Total contract assets                               72 -                              

How we recognise contract assets
Contract assets relate to the Beechworth Health Services’s right to consideration in exchange for goods transferred 
to customers for works completed, but not yet billed at the reporting date. The contract assets are transferred to 
receivables when the rights become unconditional, at this time an invoice is issued. Contract assets are expected to 
be recovered during the next financial year. 
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Note 5.3 Payables
Total Total

 2024 2023
 Note $'000 $'000
Current payables
Contractual
Trade creditors 204                           262                           
Accrued salaries and wages 637                           412                           
Accrued expenses 405                           394                           
Deferred Capital grant income 5.3(a) 763                           411                           
Inter hospital creditors 104                           2                                
Amounts payable to governments and agencies 55                              -                                 
Total contractual payables 2,168                        1,481                        

Total payables 2,168                        1,481                        

(i) Financial liabilities classified as payables (Note 7.1(a))

Total payables 2,168                        1,481                        
Deferred grant income (763)                          (411)                          

Total financial liabilties classified as payables 7.1(a) 1,405                        1,070                        

How we recognise payables 
Payables consist of:

The normal credit terms for accounts payable are usually Net 60 days.

•  Contractual payables, including payables that relate to the purchase of goods and services. These payables are classified as 
financial instruments and measured at amortised cost. Accounts payable and salaries and wages payable represent liabilities 
for goods and services provided to Beechworth Health Services prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid.

•  Statutory payables, including Goods and Services Tax (GST) payable (if any). Statutory payables are recognised and 
measured similarly to contractual payables, but are not classified as financial instruments and not included in the category of 
financial liabilities at amortised cost, because they do not arise from contracts.
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Note 5.3 (a) Deferred capital grant income

Total Total
  2024 2023

$'000 $'000
Opening balance of deferred capital grant income 411                           299                           
Grant consideration for capital works received during the year 942                           160                           

Deferred grant revenue recognised as revenue due to completion of capital works (590)                          (48)                            
Closing balance of deferred capital grant income 763                           411                           

How we recognise deferred capital grant revenue

Capital grant income is recognised progressively as the asset is constructed, since this is the time when Beechworth Health 
Services satisfies its obligations. The progressive percentage of costs incurred is used to recognise income because this most 
closely reflects the percentage of completion of the building works. As a result, Beechworth Health Services has deferred 
recognition of a portion of the grant consideration received as a liability for the outstanding obligations.
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Note 5.4 Contract liabilities

Total Total
2024 2023
$'000 $'000

Current
Contract liabilities 9 551
Total current contract liabilities 9 551

Note 5.4(a) Movement in contract liabilities Total Total
  2024 2023

$'000 $'000
Opening balance of contract liabilities 551                           294                           
Grant consideration for sufficiently specific performance obligations received during 
the year 282                           559                           
Revenue recognised for the completion of a performance obligation (824)                          (302)                          
Total contract liabilities 9                               551                           

* Represented by:   
 - Current contract liabilities 9                                551                           

9                               551                           

How we recognise contract liabilities

Maturity analysis of payables
Please refer to Note 7.2(b) for the maturity analysis of payables.

Contract liabilities include consideration received in advance from customers in respect of activity based funding and Primary 
Care Innovative Multidisciplinary modelling. The balance of contract liabilities was significantly lower than the previous 
reporting period due to project funding that was received late in the previous financial period being expended in the current 
year.

Contract liabilities are derecognised and recorded as revenue when promised goods and services are transferred to the 
customer. Refer to Note 2.1.
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Note 5.5 Other liabilities

Total Total
2024 2023

 Note $'000 $'000
Current monies held it trust
Patient monies 163                           158                           
Refundable accommodation deposits 8,687                        9,051                        
Other monies 90                             136                           
Total current monies held in trust 8,940                        9,345                        

Total other liabilities 8,940                        9,345                        

* Represented by: 
 - Cash assets 6.2 8,940                        9,345                        

8,940                        9,345                        

How we recognise other liabilities
Refundable Accommodation Deposit (RAD)/Accommodation Bond liabilities 
RADs/accommodation bonds are non-interest-bearing deposits made by some aged care residents to Beechworth Health Services 
upon admission. These deposits are liabilities which fall due and payable when the resident leaves the home. As there is no 
unconditional right to defer payment for 12 months, these liabilities are recorded as current liabilities. 

RAD/accommodation bond liabilities are recorded at an amount equal to the proceeds received, net of retention and any other 
amounts deducted from the RAD/accommodation bond in accordance with the Aged Care Act 1997 .
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Note 6: How we finance our operations 

Structure

6.1 Borrowings
6.2 Cash and cash equivalents
6.3 Commitments for expenditure

Material judgements and estimates

This section contains the following material judgements and estimates:

Description

Discount rate applied to future 
lease payments

Beechworth Health Services applies material judgement when determining if 
a lease meets the short-term or low value lease exemption criteria.

The health service estimates the fair value of leased assets when new. Where 
the estimated fair value is less than $10,000, the health service applies the 
low-value lease exemption.
The health service also estimates the lease term with reference to remaining 
lease term and period that the lease remains enforceable. Where the 
enforceable lease period is less than 12 months the health service applies the 
short-term lease exemption.

Beechworth Health Services applies material judgement to determine if a 
contract is or contains a lease by considering if the health service:

•  has the right-to-use an identified asset
•  has the right to obtain substantially all economic benefits from the use 
of the leased asset and
•  can decide how and for what purpose the asset is used throughout the 
lease.

This section provides information on the sources of finance utilised by Beechworth Health Services during its 
operations, along with interest expenses (the cost of borrowings) and other information related to financing 
activities of Beechworth Health Services.

This section includes disclosures of balances that are financial instruments (such as borrowings and cash balances). 
Note 7.1 provides additional, specific financial instrument disclosures.

Beechworth Health Services discounts its lease payments using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, which is 
generally the case for the health service’s lease arrangements, Beechworth 
Health Services uses its incremental borrowing rate, which is the amount the 
health service would have to pay to borrow funds necessary to obtain an 
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic 
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
For leased plant, equipment, furniture, fittings and vehicles, the implicit 
interest rate is between 2.18% and 2.42%.

Material judgements and 
estimates

Determining if a contract is or 
contains a lease

Determining if a lease meets the 
short-term or low value asset lease 
exemption
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Note 6: How we finance our operations 

Structure

6.1 Borrowings
6.2 Cash and cash equivalents
6.3 Commitments for expenditure

Material judgements and estimates

This section contains the following material judgements and estimates:

Description

Discount rate applied to future 
lease payments

Beechworth Health Services applies material judgement when determining if 
a lease meets the short-term or low value lease exemption criteria.

The health service estimates the fair value of leased assets when new. Where 
the estimated fair value is less than $10,000, the health service applies the 
low-value lease exemption.
The health service also estimates the lease term with reference to remaining 
lease term and period that the lease remains enforceable. Where the 
enforceable lease period is less than 12 months the health service applies the 
short-term lease exemption.

Beechworth Health Services applies material judgement to determine if a 
contract is or contains a lease by considering if the health service:

•  has the right-to-use an identified asset
•  has the right to obtain substantially all economic benefits from the use 
of the leased asset and
•  can decide how and for what purpose the asset is used throughout the 
lease.

This section provides information on the sources of finance utilised by Beechworth Health Services during its 
operations, along with interest expenses (the cost of borrowings) and other information related to financing 
activities of Beechworth Health Services.

This section includes disclosures of balances that are financial instruments (such as borrowings and cash balances). 
Note 7.1 provides additional, specific financial instrument disclosures.

Beechworth Health Services discounts its lease payments using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, which is 
generally the case for the health service’s lease arrangements, Beechworth 
Health Services uses its incremental borrowing rate, which is the amount the 
health service would have to pay to borrow funds necessary to obtain an 
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic 
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
For leased plant, equipment, furniture, fittings and vehicles, the implicit 
interest rate is between 2.18% and 2.42%.

Material judgements and 
estimates

Determining if a contract is or 
contains a lease

Determining if a lease meets the 
short-term or low value asset lease 
exemption
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Material judgements and estimates (continued)

•  The health service considers historical lease durations and the costs 
and business disruption to replace such leased assets.

Assessing the lease term

Material judgements and 
estimates Description

The lease term represents the non-cancellable period of a lease, combined 
with periods covered by an option to extend or terminate the lease if 
Beechworth Health Services is reasonably certain to exercise such options.

Beechworth Health Services determines the likelihood of exercising such 
options on a lease-by-lease basis through consideration of various factors 
including:

•  If there are significant penalties to terminate (or not extend), the 
health service is typically reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate) 
the lease.
•  If any leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant 
remaining value, the health service is typically reasonably certain to 
extend (or not terminate) the lease.
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Note 6.1 Borrowings

Total Total
 2024 2023
 Note $'000 $'000
Current borrowings
Lease liability (i) 6.1 (a) 3                                3                                
Advances from government (ii) 23                             -                                
Total current borrowings 26                             3                               

Non-current borrowings
Lease liability (i) 6.1 (a) 10                             12                             
Advances from government (ii) 20                             64                             
Total non-current borrowings 30                             76                             

Total borrowings 56                             79                             

How we recognise borrowings

Initial recognition

Subsequent measurement

Maturity analysis
Please refer to Note 7.2(b) for the maturity analysis of borrowings.

Defaults and breaches
During the current and prior year, there were no defaults and breaches of any of the loans.

Subsequent to initial recognition, interest bearing borrowings are measured at amortised cost with any difference between the 
initial recognised amount and the redemption value being recognised in the net result over the period of the borrowing using the 
effective interest method. Non-interest bearing borrowings are measured at ‘fair value through profit or loss’.

ii These are unsecured loans which bear no interest.

i Secured by the assets leased.

Borrowings refer to interesting bearing liabilities mainly raised from other funds raised through lease liabilities and other interest-
bearing arrangements.

All borrowings are initially recognised at fair value of the consideration received, less directly attributable transaction costs.
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Note 6.1 (a) Lease liabilities

Total Total
2024 2023
$'000 $'000

Total undiscounted lease liabilities 14                             16                             
Less unexpired finance expenses (1)                              (1)                              
Net lease liabilities 13                             15                             

Total Total
2024 2023
$'000 $'000

Not longer than one year 3                                3                                
Longer than one year but not longer than five years 11                             11                             
Longer than five years -                                2                                
Minimum future lease liability 14                             16                             
Less unexpired finance expenses (1)                              (1)                              
Present value of lease liability 13                             15                             

* Represented by: 
 - Current liabilities 3                                3                                
 - Non-current liabilities 10                             12                             

13                             15                             
How we recognise lease liabilities

To apply this definition, Beechworth Health Services ensures the contract meets the following criteria: 

Beechworth Health Services’s lease arrangements consist of the following:
Lease term

2 to 5 years
Type of asset leased
Leased plant, equipment, furniture, fittings and vehicles

Beechworth Health Services's lease liabilities are summarised below:

The following table sets out the maturity analysis of lease liabilities, showing the undiscounted lease payments to be made after 
the reporting date.

A lease is defined as a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right for Beechworth Health Services to use an asset for a 
period of time in exchange for payment. 

•  the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by being 
identified at the time the asset is made available to Beechworth Health Services and for which the supplier does not have 
substantive substitution rights.

•  Beechworth Health Services has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified 
asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract and Beechworth Health 
Services has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use  and

•  Beechworth Health Services has the right to take decisions in respect of ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is 
used throughout the period of use. 
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Note 6.1 (a) Lease liabilities

Separation of lease and non-lease components 

Initial measurement 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 

•  fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentive receivable

•  amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee and
•  payments arising from purchase and termination options reasonably certain to be exercised. 

The following types of lease arrangements, contain extension and termination options:

•  Motor vehicle leases provided through VicFleet

Subsequent measurement 

Leases with significantly below market terms and conditions

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise 
an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods after termination options) are only 
included in the lease term and lease liability if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is remeasured 
to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in the substance fixed payments.

When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if 
the right of use asset is already reduced to zero.

Beechworth Health Service does not hold any lease arrangements which contain significantly below-market terms and 
conditions.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the lessee is required to separate out and 
account separately for non-lease components within a lease contract and exclude these amounts when determining the lease 
liability and right-of-use asset amount. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at the commencement date, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily determinable or Beechworth Health Servicess 
incremental borrowing rate. Our lease liability has been discounted by rates of between 3% to 5%.

•  variable payments based on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date

These terms are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing contracts. The majority of extension and 
termination options held are exercisable only by the health service and not by the respective lessor. 
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Note 6.2 Cash and Cash Equivalents

 Total Total
 2024 2023

Note $'000 $'000
Cash on hand (excluding monies held in trust) 1                                1                                
Cash at bank  (excluding monies held in trust) 961                           1,231                        
Cash at bank - CBS (excluding monies held in trust) 2,923                        2,120                        
Total cash held for operations 3,885                        3,352                        

Cash on hand (monies held in trust) 1                                1                                
Cash at bank (monies held in trust) 45                             41                             
Cash at bank - CBS (monies held in trust) 8,771                        9,180                        
Term deposits < 3 months  (monies held in trust) 123                           123                           
Total cash held as monies in trust 8,940                        9,345                        

Total cash and cash equivalents 7.1 (a) 12,825                      12,697                      

How we recognise cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents recognised on the balance sheet comprise cash on hand and in banks, deposits at call and highly liquid 
investments (with an original maturity date of three months or less).

Cash and cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short term cash commitments rather than for investment purposes 
and are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents include bank overdrafts, which are included as 
liabilities on the balance sheet. The cash flow statement includes monies held in trust.
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Note 6.3 Commitments for expenditure

 Total Total
 2024 2023

$'000 $'000
Capital expenditure commitments
Less than one year 953                           411                           
Total capital expenditure commitments 953                           411                           

Operating commitments
Less than one year 459                           315                           
Total non-cancellable short term and low value lease commitments 459                           315                           

Total commitments for expenditure (exclusive of GST) 1,412                        726                           
Less GST recoverable from Australian Tax Office (128)                          (66)                            
Total commitments for expenditure (exclusive of GST) 1,284                        660                           

Future lease payments are recognised on the balance sheet, refer to Note 6.1 Borrowings.

How we disclose our commitments
Our commitments relate to expenditure on the provision of IT services.

Expenditure commitments

Commitments for future expenditure include operating and capital commitments arising from contracts. These commitments are 
disclosed at their nominal value and are inclusive of the GST payable. In addition, where it is considered appropriate and provides 
additional relevant information to users, the net present values of significant projects are stated. These future expenditures cease 
to be disclosed as commitments once the related liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet.
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Structure

7.1 Financial instruments
7.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies
7.3 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
7.4 Fair value determination

Material judgements and estimates

This section contains the following material judgements and estimates:

Beechworth Health Services is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary to make 
judgements and estimates associated with recognition and measurement of items in the financial statements. This section 
sets out financial instrument specific information, (including exposures to financial risks) as well as those items that are 
contingent in nature or require a higher level of judgement to be applied, which for the health service is related mainly to fair 
value determination.

Note 7: Risks, contingencies and valuation 
uncertainties 

Material judgements and 
estimates Description

Measuring fair value of non-financial assets Fair value is measured with reference to highest and best use, 
that is, the use of the asset by a market participant that is 
physically possible, legally permissible, financially feasible, and 
which results in the highest value, or to sell it to another market 
participant that would use the same asset in its highest and best 
use.
In determining the highest and best use, Beechworth Health 
Service has assumed the current use is its highest and best use. 
Accordingly, characteristics of the health service’s assets are 
considered, including condition, location and any restrictions on 
the use and disposal of such assets.
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Structure

7.1 Financial instruments
7.2 Financial risk management objectives and policies
7.3 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
7.4 Fair value determination

Material judgements and estimates

This section contains the following material judgements and estimates:

Beechworth Health Services is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary to make 
judgements and estimates associated with recognition and measurement of items in the financial statements. This section 
sets out financial instrument specific information, (including exposures to financial risks) as well as those items that are 
contingent in nature or require a higher level of judgement to be applied, which for the health service is related mainly to fair 
value determination.

Note 7: Risks, contingencies and valuation 
uncertainties 

Material judgements and 
estimates Description

Measuring fair value of non-financial assets Fair value is measured with reference to highest and best use, 
that is, the use of the asset by a market participant that is 
physically possible, legally permissible, financially feasible, and 
which results in the highest value, or to sell it to another market 
participant that would use the same asset in its highest and best 
use.
In determining the highest and best use, Beechworth Health 
Service has assumed the current use is its highest and best use. 
Accordingly, characteristics of the health service’s assets are 
considered, including condition, location and any restrictions on 
the use and disposal of such assets.



Beechworth Health Services
Notes to the Financial Statements

for the financial year ended 30 June 2024

Material judgements and estimates (continued)

Material judgements and 
estimates Description

Measuring fair value of non-financial assets
Beechworth Health Service uses a range of valuation techniques 
to estimate fair value, which include the following:

▪  Level 1, using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 
for identical assets that the health service can access at 
measurement date. Beechworth Health Service does not 
categorise any fair values within this level.
▪  Level 2, inputs other than quoted prices included within 
Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either directly or 
indirectly. Beechworth Health Service categorises non-
specialised land and right-of-use concessionary land in this 
level.

▪  Level 3, where inputs are unobservable. Beechworth Health 
Service categorises specialised land, specialised buildings, 
plant, equipment, furniture, fittings, vehicles and right-of-use 
plant, equipment, furniture and fittings in this level.

▪  Market approach, which uses prices and other relevant 
information generated by market transactions involving 
identical or comparable assets and liabilities. The fair value of 
Beechworth Health Service’s non specialised land and non 
specialised buildings are measured using this approach. 

▪  Cost approach, which reflects the amount that would be 
required to replace the service capacity of the asset (referred 
to as current replacement cost). The fair value of Beechworth 
Health Service’s specialised buildings, furniture, fittings, 
plant, equipment and vehicles are measured using this 
approach.
▪  Income approach, which converts future cash flows or 
income and expenses to a single undiscounted amount. 
Beechworth Health Service does not this use approach to 
measure fair value. 

The health service selects a valuation technique which is 
considered most appropriate, and for which there is sufficient 
data available to measure fair value, maximising the use of 
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs.
Subsequently, the health service applies material judgement to 
categorise and disclose such assets within a fair value hierarchy, 
which includes:
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ea

lth
 S

er
vi

ce
s b

ec
om

es
 a

 p
ar

ty
 to

 th
e 

co
nt

ra
ct

ua
l p

ro
vi

sio
ns

 to
 th

e 
in

st
ru

m
en

t. 
Fi

na
nc

ia
l i

ns
tr

um
en

ts
 a

re
 in

iti
al

ly
 m

ea
su

re
d 

at
 fa

ir 
va

lu
e 

pl
us

 tr
an

sa
ct

io
n 

co
st

s, 
ex

ce
pt

 w
he

re
 th

e 
in

st
ru

m
en

t i
s c

la
ss

ifi
ed

 a
t f

ai
r v

al
ue

 th
ro

ug
h 

pr
of

it 
or

 lo
ss

, i
n 

w
hi

ch
 ca

se
 tr

an
sa

ct
io

n 
co

st
s a

re
 e

xp
en

se
d 

to
 p

ro
fit

 o
r l

os
s i

m
m

ed
ia

te
ly

. 

Th
e 

ef
fe

ct
iv

e 
in

te
re

st
 m

et
ho

d 
is 

a 
m

et
ho

d 
of

 ca
lcu

la
tin

g 
th

e 
am

or
tis

ed
 co

st
 o

f a
 d

eb
t i

ns
tr

um
en

t a
nd

 o
f a

llo
ca

tin
g 

in
te

re
st

 e
xp

en
se

 in
 n

et
 re

su
lt 

ov
er

 th
e 

re
le

va
nt

 p
er

io
d.

 T
he

 e
ffe

ct
iv

e 
in

te
re

st
 is

 th
e 

in
te

rn
al

 ra
te

 o
f r

et
ur

n 
of

 th
e 

fin
an

cia
l a

ss
et

 o
r l

ia
bi

lit
y.

 T
ha

t i
s, 

it 
is 

th
e 

ra
te

 th
at

 e
xa

ct
ly

 d
isc

ou
nt

s t
he

 e
st

im
at

ed
 fu

tu
re

 ca
sh

 fl
ow

s t
hr

ou
gh

 th
e 

ex
pe

ct
ed

 li
fe

 o
f t

he
 in

st
ru

m
en

t 
to

 th
e 

ne
t c

ar
ry

in
g 

am
ou

nt
 a

t i
ni

tia
l r

ec
og

ni
tio

n.
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 (a
) C

at
eg

or
isa

tio
n 

of
 fi

na
nc

ia
l i

ns
tru

m
en

ts
De

re
co

gn
iti

on
 o

f f
in

an
cia

l a
ss

et
s

A 
fin

an
cia

l a
ss

et
 (o

r, 
w

he
re

 a
pp

lic
ab

le
, a

 p
ar

t o
f a

 fi
na

nc
ia

l a
ss

et
 o

r p
ar

t o
f a

 g
ro

up
 o

f s
im

ila
r f

in
an

cia
l a

ss
et

s)
 is

 d
er

ec
og

ni
se

d 
w

he
n:

 

• 
 th

e 
rig

ht
s t

o 
re

ce
iv

e 
ca

sh
 fl

ow
s f

ro
m

 th
e 

as
se

t h
av

e 
ex

pi
re

d 
or

• 
 B

ee
ch

w
or

th
 H

ea
lth

 S
er

vi
ce

s h
as

 tr
an

sf
er

re
d 

its
 ri

gh
ts

 to
 re

ce
iv

e 
ca

sh
 fl

ow
s f

ro
m

 th
e 

as
se

t a
nd

 e
ith

er
:

-  
   

  h
as

 tr
an

sf
er

re
d 

su
bs

ta
nt

ia
lly

 a
ll 

th
e 

ris
ks

 a
nd

 re
w

ar
ds

 o
f t

he
 a

ss
et

 o
r

-  
   

  h
as

 n
ei

th
er

 tr
an

sf
er

re
d 

no
r r

et
ai

ne
d 

su
bs

ta
nt

ia
lly

 a
ll 

th
e 

ris
ks

 a
nd

 re
w

ar
ds

 o
f t

he
 a

ss
et

 b
ut

 h
as

 tr
an

sf
er

re
d 

co
nt

ro
l o

f t
he

 a
ss

et
. 

De
re

co
gn

iti
on

 o
f f

in
an

cia
l l

ia
bi

lit
ie

s
A 

fin
an

cia
l l

ia
bi

lit
y 

is 
de

re
co

gn
ise

d 
w

he
n 

th
e 

ob
lig

at
io

n 
un

de
r t

he
 li

ab
ili

ty
 is

 d
isc

ha
rg

ed
, c

an
ce

lle
d 

or
 e

xp
ire

s.

Re
cla

ss
ifi

ca
tio

n 
of

 fi
na

nc
ia

l i
ns

tr
um

en
ts

A 
fin

an
cia

l l
ia

bi
lit

y 
re

cla
ss

ifi
ca

tio
n 

is 
no

t p
er

m
itt

ed
.

A 
fin

an
cia

l a
ss

et
 is

 re
qu

ire
d 

to
 b

e 
re

cla
ss

ifi
ed

 b
et

w
ee

n 
fa

ir 
va

lu
e 

be
tw

ee
n 

am
or

tis
ed

 co
st

, f
ai

r v
al

ue
 th

ro
ug

h 
ne

t r
es

ul
t a

nd
 fa

ir 
va

lu
e 

th
ro

ug
h 

ot
he

r c
om

pr
eh

en
siv

e 
in

co
m

e 
w

he
n,

 a
nd

 o
nl

y 
w

he
n,

 B
ee

ch
w

or
th

 H
ea

lth
 S

er
vi

ce
s’s

 b
us

in
es

s m
od

el
 fo

r m
an

ag
in

g 
its

 fi
na

nc
ia

l a
ss

et
s h

as
 ch

an
ge

d 
su

ch
 th

at
 it

s p
re

vi
ou

s m
od

el
 w

ou
ld

 n
o 

lo
ng

er
 a

pp
ly

.

• 
 B

ee
ch

w
or

th
 H

ea
lth

 S
er

vi
ce

s r
et

ai
ns

 th
e 

rig
ht

 to
 re

ce
iv

e 
ca

sh
 fl

ow
s f

ro
m

 th
e 

as
se

t, 
bu

t h
as

 a
ss

um
ed

 a
n 

ob
lig

at
io

n 
to

 p
ay

 th
em

 in
 fu

ll 
w

ith
ou

t m
at

er
ia

l d
el

ay
 to

 a
 th

ird
 p

ar
ty

 u
nd

er
 a

 
‘p

as
s t

hr
ou

gh
’ a

rr
an

ge
m

en
t o

r

W
he

re
 B

ee
ch

w
or

th
 H

ea
lth

 S
er

vi
ce

s h
as

 n
ei

th
er

 tr
an

sf
er

re
d 

no
r r

et
ai

ne
d 

su
bs

ta
nt

ia
lly

 a
ll 

th
e 

ris
ks

 a
nd

 re
w

ar
ds

 o
r t

ra
ns

fe
rr

ed
 co

nt
ro

l, 
th

e 
as

se
t i

s r
ec

og
ni

se
d 

to
 th

e 
ex

te
nt

 o
f B

ee
ch

w
or

th
 

He
al

th
 S

er
vi

ce
s’s

 co
nt

in
ui

ng
 in

vo
lv

em
en

t i
n 

th
e 

as
se

t.

W
he

n 
an

 e
xis

tin
g 

fin
an

cia
l l

ia
bi

lit
y 

is 
re

pl
ac

ed
 b

y 
an

ot
he

r f
ro

m
 th

e 
sa

m
e 

le
nd

er
 o

n 
su

bs
ta

nt
ia

lly
 d

iff
er

en
t t

er
m

s, 
or

 th
e 

te
rm

s o
f a

n 
ex

ist
in

g 
lia

bi
lit

y 
ar

e 
su

bs
ta

nt
ia

lly
 m

od
ifi

ed
, s

uc
h 

an
 

ex
ch

an
ge

 o
r m

od
ifi

ca
tio

n 
is 

tr
ea

te
d 

as
 a

 d
er

ec
og

ni
tio

n 
of

 th
e 

or
ig

in
al

 li
ab

ili
ty

 a
nd

 th
e 

re
co

gn
iti

on
 o

f a
 n

ew
 li

ab
ili

ty
. T

he
 d

iff
er

en
ce

 in
 th

e 
re

sp
ec

tiv
e 

ca
rr

yi
ng

 a
m

ou
nt

s i
s r

ec
og

ni
se

d 
as

 a
n 

‘o
th

er
 e

co
no

m
ic 

flo
w

’ i
n 

th
e 

co
m

pr
eh

en
siv

e 
op

er
at

in
g 

st
at

em
en

t. 
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: F
in

an
cia

l r
isk

 m
an

ag
em

en
t o

bj
ec

tiv
es

 a
nd

 p
ol

ici
es

As
 a

 w
ho

le
, B

ee
ch

w
or

th
 H

ea
lth

 S
er

vi
ce

s’s
 fi

na
nc

ia
l r

isk
 m

an
ag

em
en

t p
ro

gr
am

 se
ek

s t
o 

m
an

ag
e 

th
e 

ris
ks

 a
nd

 th
e 

as
so

cia
te

d 
vo

la
til

ity
 o

f i
ts

 fi
na

nc
ia

l p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

.

No
te

 7
.2

 (a
) C

re
di

t r
isk

Th
er

e 
ha

s b
ee

n 
no

 m
at

er
ia

l c
ha

ng
e 

to
 B

ee
ch

w
or

th
 H

ea
lth

 S
er

vi
ce

s’s
 cr

ed
it 

ris
k 

pr
of

ile
 in

 2
02

3-
24

.

De
ta

ils
 o

f t
he

 si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 a

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
po

lic
ie

s a
nd

 m
et

ho
ds

 a
do

pt
ed

, i
nc

lu
de

d 
th

e 
cr

ite
ria

 fo
r r

ec
og

ni
tio

n,
 th

e 
ba

sis
 o

f m
ea

su
re

m
en

t, 
an

d 
th

e 
ba

sis
 o

n 
w

hi
ch

 in
co

m
e 

an
d 

ex
pe

ns
es

 a
re

 
re

co
gn

ise
d,

 w
ith

 re
sp

ec
t t

o 
ea

ch
 cl

as
s o

f f
in

an
cia

l a
ss

et
, f

in
an

cia
l l

ia
bi

lit
y 

an
d 

eq
ui

ty
 in

st
ru

m
en

t a
bo

ve
 a

re
 d

isc
lo

se
d 

th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 th

e 
fin

an
cia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

.

Be
ec

hw
or

th
 H

ea
lth

 S
er

vi
ce

s’s
 m

ai
n 

fin
an

cia
l r

isk
s i

nc
lu

de
 cr

ed
it 

ris
k,

 li
qu

id
ity

 ri
sk

 a
nd

 in
te

re
st

 ra
te

 ri
sk

. B
ee

ch
w

or
th

 H
ea

lth
 S

er
vi

ce
s m

an
ag

es
 th

es
e 

fin
an

cia
l r

isk
s i

n 
ac

co
rd

an
ce

 w
ith

 it
s 

fin
an

cia
l r

isk
 m

an
ag

em
en

t p
ol

icy
.  

It 
is 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 th

es
e 

ris
ks

 a
re

 in
sig

ni
fic

an
t f

or
 B

ee
ch

w
or

th
 H

ea
lth

 S
er

vi
ce

s.

Pr
im

ar
y 

re
sp

on
sib

ili
ty

 fo
r t

he
 id

en
tif

ica
tio

n 
an

d 
m

an
ag

em
en

t o
f f

in
an

cia
l r

isk
s r

es
ts

 w
ith

 th
e 

Ac
co

un
ta

bl
e 

Of
fic

er
.

Cr
ed

it 
ris

k 
re

fe
rs

 to
 th

e 
po

ss
ib

ili
ty

 th
at

 a
 b

or
ro

w
er

 w
ill

 d
ef

au
lt 

on
 it

s f
in

an
cia

l o
bl

ig
at

io
ns

 a
s a

nd
 w

he
n 

th
ey

 fa
ll 

du
e.

 B
ee

ch
w

or
th

 H
ea

lth
 S

er
vi

ce
s’s

 e
xp

os
ur

e 
to

 cr
ed

it 
ris

k 
ar

ise
s f

ro
m

 th
e 

po
te

nt
ia

l d
ef

au
lt 

of
 a

 co
un

te
r p

ar
ty

 o
n 

th
ei

r c
on

tr
ac

tu
al

 o
bl

ig
at

io
ns

 re
su

lti
ng

 in
 fi

na
nc

ia
l l

os
s t

o 
Be

ec
hw

or
th

 H
ea

lth
 S

er
vi

ce
s. 

Cr
ed

it 
ris

k 
is 

m
ea

su
re

d 
at

 fa
ir 

va
lu

e 
an

d 
is 

m
on

ito
re

d 
on

 a
 re

gu
la

r 
ba

sis
.

Cr
ed

it 
ris

k 
as

so
cia

te
d 

w
ith

 B
ee

ch
w

or
th

 H
ea

lth
 S

er
vi

ce
s’s

 co
nt

ra
ct

ua
l f

in
an

cia
l a

ss
et

s i
s m

in
im

al
 b

ec
au

se
 th

e 
m

ai
n 

de
bt

or
 is

 th
e 

Vi
ct

or
ia

n 
Go

ve
rn

m
en

t. 
Fo

r d
eb

to
rs

 o
th

er
 th

an
 th

e 
Go

ve
rn

m
en

t, 
th

e 
he

al
th

 se
rv

ice
 is

 e
xp

os
ed

 to
 cr

ed
it 

ris
k 

as
so

cia
te

d 
w

ith
 p

at
ie

nt
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 d
eb

to
rs

.

In
 a

dd
iti

on
, B

ee
ch

w
or

th
 H

ea
lth

 S
er

vi
ce

s d
oe

s n
ot

 e
ng

ag
e 

in
 h

ed
gi

ng
 fo

r i
ts

 co
nt

ra
ct

ua
l f

in
an

cia
l a

ss
et

s a
nd

 m
ai

nl
y 

ob
ta

in
s c

on
tr

ac
tu

al
 fi

na
nc

ia
l a

ss
et

s t
ha

t a
re

 o
n 

fix
ed

 in
te

re
st

, e
xc

ep
t f

or
 ca

sh
 

an
d 

de
po

sit
s, 

w
hi

ch
 a

re
 m

ai
nl

y 
ca

sh
 a

t b
an

k.
 A

s w
ith

 th
e 

po
lic

y 
fo

r d
eb

to
rs

, B
ee

ch
w

or
th

 H
ea

lth
 S

er
vi

ce
s’s

 p
ol

icy
 is

 to
 o

nl
y 

de
al

 w
ith

 b
an

ks
 w

ith
 h

ig
h 

cr
ed

it 
ra

tin
gs

.

Pr
ov

isi
on

 o
f i

m
pa

irm
en

t f
or

 co
nt

ra
ct

ua
l f

in
an

cia
l a

ss
et

s i
s r

ec
og

ni
se

d 
w

he
n 

th
er

e 
is 

ob
je

ct
iv

e 
ev

id
en

ce
 th

at
 B

ee
ch

w
or

th
 H

ea
lth

 S
er

vi
ce

s w
ill

 n
ot

 b
e 

ab
le

 to
 co

lle
ct

 a
 re

ce
iv

ab
le

. O
bj

ec
tiv

e 
ev

id
en

ce
 in

clu
de

s f
in

an
cia

l d
iff

icu
lti

es
 o

f t
he

 d
eb

to
r, 

de
fa

ul
t p

ay
m

en
ts

, d
eb

to
rs

 th
at

 a
re

 m
or

e 
th

an
 6

0 
da

ys
 o

ve
rd

ue
, a

nd
 ch

an
ge

s i
n 

de
bt

or
 cr

ed
it 

ra
tin

gs
.

Co
nt

ra
ct

 fi
na

nc
ia

l a
ss

et
s a

re
 w

rit
te

n 
of

f a
ga

in
st

 th
e 

ca
rr

yi
ng

 a
m

ou
nt

 w
he

n 
th

er
e 

is 
no

 re
as

on
ab

le
 e

xp
ec

ta
tio

n 
of

 re
co

ve
ry

. B
ad

 d
eb

t w
rit

te
n 

of
f b

y 
m

ut
ua

l c
on

se
nt

 is
 cl

as
sif

ie
d 

as
 a

 tr
an

sa
ct

io
n 

ex
pe

ns
e.

 B
ad

 d
eb

t w
rit

te
n 

of
f f

ol
lo

w
in

g 
a 

un
ila

te
ra

l d
ec

isi
on

 is
 re

co
gn

ise
d 

as
 o

th
er

 e
co

no
m

ic 
flo

w
s i

n 
th

e 
ne

t r
es

ul
t.

Ex
ce

pt
 a

s o
th

er
w

ise
 d

et
ai

le
d 

in
 th

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

ta
bl

e,
 th

e 
ca

rr
yi

ng
 a

m
ou

nt
 o

f c
on

tr
ac

tu
al

 fi
na

nc
ia

l a
ss

et
s r

ec
or

de
d 

in
 th

e 
fin

an
cia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

, n
et

 o
f a

ny
 a

llo
w

an
ce

s f
or

 lo
ss

es
, r

ep
re

se
nt

s 
Be

ec
hw

or
th

 H
ea

lth
 S

er
vi

ce
s’s

 m
ax

im
um

 e
xp

os
ur

e 
to

 cr
ed

it 
ris

k 
w

ith
ou

t t
ak

in
g 

ac
co

un
t o

f t
he

 v
al

ue
 o

f a
ny

 co
lla

te
ra

l o
bt

ai
ne

d.
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isk

Im
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AS
B 

9

Co
nt

ra
ct

ua
l r

ec
ei

va
bl

es
 a

t a
m

or
tis

ed
 co

st

On
 th

is 
ba

sis
, B

ee
ch

w
or

th
 H

ea
lth

 S
er

vi
ce

s d
et

er
m

in
es

 th
e 

clo
sin

g 
lo

ss
 a

llo
w

an
ce

 a
t t

he
 e

nd
 o

f t
he

 fi
na

nc
ia

l y
ea

r a
s f

ol
lo

w
s:

No
te

 7
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 (b
) C

on
tra

ct
ua

l r
ec

ei
va

bl
es

 a
t a

m
or

tis
ed

 co
st

1–
5

No
te

ye
ar

s
Ex

pe
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ed
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Beechworth Health Services
Notes to the Financial Statements

for the financial year ended 30 June 2024

Note 7.3: Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
At balance date, the Board are not aware of any contingent assets or liabilities.

How we measure and disclose contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively.

Contingent assets

These are classified as either quantifiable, where the potential economic benefit is known, or non-quantifiable.

Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are:

•  present obligations that arise from past events but are not recognised because:

-       the amount of the obligations cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Contingent liabilities are also classified as either quantifiable or non-quantifiable.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet but are disclosed and, if quantifiable, are 
measured at nominal value.

Contingent assets are possible assets that arise from past events, whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or 
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the health service.

•  possible obligations that arise from past events, whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the health service or

-       It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligations or



Beechworth Health Services
Notes to the Financial Statements

for the financial year ended 30 June 2024

Note 7.4: Fair Value Determination

How we measure fair value

The following assets and liabilities are carried at fair value:

▪  Property, plant and equipment
▪  Right-of-use assets

Valuation hierarchy

Identifying unobservable inputs (level 3) fair value measurements

Beechworth Health Service determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing 
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each 
reporting period. There have been no transfers between levels during the period. 

Beechworth Health Service monitors changes in the fair value of each asset and liability through relevant data sources to 
determine whether revaluation is required. The Valuer-General Victoria (VGV) is Beechworth Health Service’s independent 
valuation agency for property, plant and equipment.

Level 3 fair value inputs are unobservable valuation inputs for an asset or liability. These inputs require material judgement and 
assumptions in deriving fair value for both financial and non-financial assets.

Unobservable inputs are used to measure fair value to the extent that relevant observable inputs are not available, thereby 
allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement date. However, 
the fair value measurement objective remains the same, i.e., an exit price at the measurement date from the perspective of a 
market participant that holds the asset or owes the liability. Therefore, unobservable inputs shall reflect the assumptions that 
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. 

In addition, the fair value of other assets and liabilities that are carried at amortised cost, also need to be determined for 
disclosure.

In determining fair values a number of inputs are used. To increase consistency and comparability in the financial statements, 
these inputs are categorised into three levels, also known as the fair value hierarchy. The levels are as follows: 

▪  Level 1 – quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
▪  Level 2 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly 
or indirectly observable and 
▪  Level 3 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
unobservable.



Beechworth Health Services
Notes to the Financial Statements

for the financial year ended 30 June 2024

Note 7.4 (a) Fair value determination of non-financial physical assets

Level 1 i Level 2 i Level 3 i

Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Non-specialised land 2,575                         -                          2,575                 -                          
Total land at fair value 4.1 (a) 2,575                         -                          2,575                 -                          

Non-specialised buildings 310                            -                          310                    -                          
Specialised buildings 34,102                       -                          -                          34,102               
Total buildings at fair value 4.1 (a) 34,412                       -                          310                    34,102               

Plant and equipment 4.1 (a) 846                            -                          -                          846                    
Motor vehicles 4.1 (a) 50                               50                       
Medical equipment at 4.1 (a) 435                            -                          -                          435                    
Computer equipment 4.1 (a) 47                               -                          -                          47                       
Furniture and fittings 4.1 (a) 103                            -                          -                          103                    

Total plant, equipment, furniture, fittings and vehicles 1,481                         -                          -                          1,481                 

Right of use equipment 4.2 (a) 13                               -                          -                          13                       
Total right-of-use assets at fair value 13                               -                          -                          13                       

Total non-financial physical assets at fair value 38,481                       -                          2,885                 35,596               

Level 1 i Level 2 i Level 3 i

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Non-specialised landii 2,451                         -                          2,451                 -                          
Total land at fair value 4.1 (a) 2,451                         -                          2,451                 -                          

Non-specialised buildingsii 131                            -                          131                    -                          
Specialised buildings 21,826                       -                          -                          21,826               
Total buildings at fair value 4.1 (a) 21,957                       -                          131                    21,826               

Plant and equipment 4.1 (a) 614                            -                          -                          614                    
Motor vehicles 4.1 (a) 73                               73                       
Medical equipment 4.1 (a) 236                            -                          -                          236                    
Computer equipment 4.1 (a) 20                               -                          -                          20                       
Furniture and fittings 4.1 (a) 121                            -                          -                          121                    
Total plant, equipment, furniture, fittings and vehicles at 
fair value 1,064                         -                          -                          1,064                 

Right of use equipment 4.2 (a) 15                               -                          -                          15                       
Total right-of-use assets at fair value 15                               -                          -                          15                       

Total non-financial physical assets at fair value 25,487                       -                          2,582                 22,905               

i Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.

Total  carrying 
amount

30 June 2023 

Fair value measurement at end of reporting 
period using:

Total  carrying 
amount

30 June 2024 

Fair value measurement at end of reporting 
period using:

ii Prior year disclosures of land and buildings have been updated to reflect the correct allocation between specialised and non specialised 
assets.
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How we measure fair value of non-financial physical assets

Non-specialised land and non-specialised buildings

Specialised buildings

The fair value measurement of non-financial physical assets considers the market participant’s ability to use the asset in its highest and best 
use, or to sell it to another market participant that would use the same asset in its highest and best use.

Judgements about highest and best use must consider the characteristics of the assets concerned, including restrictions on the use and disposal 
of assets arising from the asset’s physical nature and any applicable legislative/contractual arrangements.

Beechworth Health Service has assumed the current use of a non-financial asset is its highest and best use unless market or other factors 
suggest that a different use by market participants would maximise the value of the asset.

Theoretical opportunities that may be available in relation to the asset(s) are not considered until it is virtually certain that any restrictions will 
no longer apply. Therefore, unless otherwise disclosed, the current use of these non-financial physical assets will be their highest and best 
uses.

Non-specialised land and non-specialised buildings are valued using the market approach. Under this valuation method, the assets are 
compared to recent comparable sales or sales of comparable assets which are considered to have nominal or no added improvement value.

For non-specialised land and non-specialised buildings, an independent valuation was performed by the Valuer-General Victoria to determine 
the fair value using the market approach. Valuation of the assets was determined by analysing comparable sales and allowing for share, size, 
topography, location and other relevant factors specific to the asset being valued. An appropriate rate per square metre has been applied to 
the subject asset. The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2024.

For Beechworth Health Service, the current replacement cost method is used for the majority of specialised buildings, adjusting for the 
associated depreciation. As depreciation adjustments are considered as significant and unobservable inputs in nature, specialised buildings are 
classified as Level 3 for fair value measurements.

An independent valuation of Beechworth Health Service’s specialised land and specialised buildings was performed by the Valuer-General 
Victoria. The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2024.

The market approach is used for specialised land although it is adjusted for the community service obligation (CSO) to reflect the specialised 
nature of the assets being valued. Specialised assets contain significant, unobservable adjustments; therefore, these assets are classified as 
Level 3 under the market based direct comparison approach.
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How we measure fair value of non-financial physical assets

Vehicles

Furniture, fittings, plant and equipment

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2024

The Beechworth Health Service acquires new vehicles and at times disposes of them before completion of their economic life. The process of 
acquisition, use and disposal in the market is managed by the health service who set relevant depreciation rates during use to reflect the 
consumption of the vehicles. As a result, the fair value of vehicles does not differ materially from the carrying amount (depreciated cost).

Furniture, fittings, plant and equipment (including medical equipment, computers and communication equipment) are held at carrying amount 
(depreciated cost). When plant and equipment is specialised in use, such that it is rarely sold other than as part of a going concern, the current 
replacement cost is used to estimate the fair value. Unless there is market evidence that current replacement costs are significantly different 
from the original acquisition cost, it is considered unlikely that current replacement cost will be materially different from the existing carrying 
amount. 
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7.4 (b): Reconciliation of level 3 fair value measurement
 

 

Total Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Balance at 1 July 2022 2,451              23,240                   965                   6                        
Additions/(Disposals) -                       56                           307                   12                      
Assets provided free of charge -                       -                              -                         -                         
Net Transfers between classesii (2,451)             (131)                       -                         -                         
Gains/(Losses) recognised in net result
- Depreciation and amortisation -                       (1,339)                    (208)                  (3)                       
Balance at 30 June 2023 7.4 (a) -                       21,826                   1,064                15                      
Additions/(Disposals) -                       511                        673                   1                        
Gains/(Losses) recognised in net result
- Depreciation and Amortisation -                       (1,338)                    (256)                  (3)                       
Items recognised in other comprehensive income
- Revaluation -                       13,103                   -                         -                         
Balance at 30 June 2024 7.4 (a) -                       34,102                   1,481                13                      

i Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, refer Note 7.4.
ii Correction of allocation to non specialised land and buildings included in balance at end of the previous year.

Fair value determination of level 3 fair value measurement

Asset class

- Cost per  unit
- Useful life

Likely valuation approach

Current replacement cost approach

Significant inputs (Level 3 only)

- Cost per  square metre
- Useful life

Land Buildings

Plant, 
equipment, 

vehicles, 
furniture & 

fittings
Right of Use 

Assets

Specialised buildings

Plant, equipment, furniture, fittings and 
vehicles

Current replacement cost approach
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Note 8: Other disclosures

Structure

8.1 Reconciliation of net result for the year to net cash flow from operating activities
8.2 Responsible persons disclosures
8.3 Remuneration of executives
8.4 Related parties
8.5 Remuneration of auditors
8.6 Events occurring after the balance sheet date
8.7 Joint arrangements
8.8 Equity
8.9 Economic dependency 

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or otherwise, for the understanding of this 
financial report.
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Total Total
 2024 2023
 Note $'000 $'000
Net result for the year 505                                   (894)                                  

Non-cash movements:
(Gain)/Loss on sale or disposal of non-financial assets 3.2 -                                         (2)                                       
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 4.5 1,599                                1,552                                
Bad and doubtful debt expense 3.1 -                                         (7)                                       
Discount (interest) / expense on loan 3                                        1                                        

Movements in Assets and Liabilities:
(Increase)/Decrease in receivables (183)                                  382                                    
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories -                                         74                                      
(Increase)/Decrease in prepaid expenses (136)                                  10                                      
Increase/(Decrease) in payables and contract liabilities 145                                   470                                    
Increase/(Decrease) in employee benefits (103)                                  193                                    
Increase/(Decrease) in other liabilities (41)                                    (23)                                     

Net cash inflow from operating activities 1,789                                1,756                                

Note 8.1 Reconciliation of net result for the year to net cash flows from operating activities
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Note 8.2 Responsible person disclosures

 
The Honourable Mary-Anne Thomas MP

Minister for Health
Minister for Health Infrastructure
Minister for Ambulance Services

The Honourable Gabrielle Williams MP
Minister for Mental Health
Former Minister for Ambulance Services

The Honourable Ingrid Stitt MP
Minister for Mental Health
Minister for Ageing
Minister for Multicultural Affairs

The Honourable Lizzy Blandthorn MP
Former Minister for Children
Former Minister for Disability

Governing Boards
Mr Donald Mace
Mr Harold Thomas
Ms Jennifer Bennett
Mr Nicholas Rideout
Dr Isabel Paton
Ms Kim Rowley
Ms Natalie Willis
Ms Glenda Beecher
Ms Gael Evans-Barr
Mr Peter Kenyon

Accountable Officers
Ms Susan Plath (Interim Chief Executive Officer)
Dr Mark Ashcroft (Chief Executive Officer)

17 Jun 2024 - 30 Jun 2024

2 Oct 2023 - 30 Jun 2024

2 Oct 2023 - 30 Jun 2024
2 Oct 2023 - 30 Jun 2024

1 Jul 2023 - 30 Jun 2024

1 Jul 2023 - 30 Jun 2024
1 Jul 2023 - 30 Jun 2024

3 Oct 2023 - 30 Jun 2024

5 Dec 2022 - 2 Oct 2023

2 Oct 2023 - 30 Jun 2024

1 Jul 2023 - 2 Oct 2023

2 Oct 2023 - 30 Jun 2024

1 Jul 2023 - 30 Jun 2024
1 Jul 2023 - 30 Jun 2024

Period

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Assistant Treasurer under the Financial Management Act 1994 , the 
following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.

1 Jul 2023 - 16 Jun 2024

1 Jul 2023 - 30 Jun 2024
1 Jul 2023 - 30 Jun 2024
1 Jul 2023 - 30 Jun 2024
1 Jul 2023 - 30 Jun 2024

1 Jul 2023 - 30 Jun 2024
1 Jul 2023 - 30 Jun 2024

1 Jul 2023 - 30 Jun 2024
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Note 8.2 Responsible persons (continued)

Remuneration of Responsible Persons
The number of Responsible Persons is shown in their relevant income bands:

Total Total
2024 2023

Income Band No No
$0 - $9,999 10                             8                                
$10,000 - $19,999 1                                1                                
$240,000 - $249,999 -                            1                                
$280,000 - $289,999 1                                
Total Numbers 12                             10                             

Total Total
2024 2023
$'000 $'000

Total remuneration received or due and receivable by Responsible Persons from the 
reporting entity amounted to: $335 $291                         

Amounts relating to Responsible Ministers are reported within the States' Annual Financial Report
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Note 8.3 Remuneration of executives

Remuneration of executive officers
(including Key Management Personnel disclosed in Note 8.4) 2024 2023

$'000 $'000
Short-term benefits 249                           302                           
Post-employment benefits 26                             31                             
Other long-term benefits 8                                9                                
Total remuneration i 283                           342                           

Total number of executives 3                                3                                
Total annualised employee equivalent ii 2.0                            2.2                            

Short-term employee benefits

Post-employment benefits

Other long-term benefits
Long service leave, other long-service benefit or deferred compensation. 

Termination benefits
Termination of employment payments, such as severance packages. 

Total Remuneration

i The total number of executive officers includes persons who meet the definition of Key Management Personnel (KMP) of 
Beechworth Health Servicess under AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and are also reported within Note 8.4 Related Parties. 
ii Annualised employee equivalent is based on working 38 ordinary hours per week over the reporting period.

The number of executive officers, other than Ministers and the Accountable Officer, and their total remuneration during the 
reporting period are shown in the table below. Total annualised employee equivalent provides a measure of full time equivalent 
executive officers over the reporting period.

Salaries and wages, annual leave or sick leave that are usually paid or payable on a regular basis, as well as non-monetary benefits 
such as allowances and free or subsidised goods or services. 

Pensions and other retirement benefits (such as superannuation guarantee contributions) paid or payable on a discrete basis 
when employment has ceased. 

Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided in exchange for services 
rendered, and is disclosed in the following categories:
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Note 8.4: Related Parties

•  all key management personnel (KMP) and their close family members and personal business interests
•  cabinet ministers (where applicable) and their close family members
•  jointly controlled operations – A member of the HRHA Joint Venture Alliance and

Key management personnel

Entity KMPs
Beechworth Health Services Dr Isabel Paton
Beechworth Health Services Mr Harold Thomas
Beechworth Health Services Ms Jennifer Bennett
Beechworth Health Services Mr Nicholas Rideout
Beechworth Health Services Mr Donald Mace
Beechworth Health Services Ms Kim Rowley
Beechworth Health Services Ms Natalie Willis
Beechworth Health Services Ms Glenda Beecher
Beechworth Health Services Ms Gael Evans-Barr
Beechworth Health Services Mr Peter Kenyon
Beechworth Health Services Ms Susan Plath Interim Chief Executive Officer (from Jun-24)
Beechworth Health Services Dr Mark Ashcroft Chief Executive Officer (to Jun-24)
Beechworth Health Services Ms Angela Clement Director of Clinical Services
Beechworth Health Services Ms Susan Plath Director of Business Service Development (from Mar-24)
Beechworth Health Services Ms Carolyn Shaw Director of Corporate Services (to Jan-24)

Total Total
2024 2023
$'000 $'000

Compensation - KMPs
Short-term Employee Benefits i 548                    559                           
Post-employment Benefits 55                      57                             
Other Long-term Benefits 15                      16                             
Total ii 618                    632                           

Beechworth Health Services is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria. Related parties of the health service 
include:

•  all health services and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the State of Victoria financial 
statements.

KMPs are those people with the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of Beechworth 
Health Services and its controlled entities, directly or indirectly. 

The Board of Directors, Chief Exectuive Officer and the Executive Directors of Beechworth Health Servicess are deemed to be 
KMPs.

The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio Ministers receive. The Minister’s remuneration 
and allowances is set by the Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 1968 , and is reported within the States' Annual 
Financial Report.

Board Member
Board Member
Board Member
Board Member

Board Member

Position Title
Board Chair

i Total remuneration paid to KMPs employed as a contractor during the reporting period through accounts payable has been 
reported under short-term employee benefits.
ii KMPs are also reported in Note 8.2 Responsible Persons or Note 8.3 Remuneration of Executives. 

Board Member
Board Member

Board Member

Board Member
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Note 8.4: Related Parties

Significant transactions with government related entities

Transactions with KMPs and other related parties

Beechworth Health Services received funding from the Department of Health of $9.088 m (2023: $8.872 m) and indirect 
contributions of $0.076 m (2023: $0.092 m). Balances outstanding as at 30 June 2024 are $0.072 m (2023 $0.073 m)

Expenses incurred by the Beechworth Health Services in delivering services and outputs are in accordance with HealthShare 
Victoria requirements. Goods and services including procurement, diagnostics, patient meals and multi-site operational support 
are provided by other Victorian Health Service Providers on commercial terms.

Professional medical indemnity insurance and other insurance products are obtained from the Victorian Managed Insurance 
Authority. 

The Standing Directions of the Assistant Treasurer require the Beechworth Health Services to hold cash (in excess of working 
capital) in accordance with the State of Victoria’s centralised banking arrangements. All borrowings are required to be sourced 
from Treasury Corporation Victoria unless an exemption has been approved by the Minister for Health and the Treasurer.

There were no related party transactions required to be disclosed for Beechworth Health Services Board of Directors, Chief 
Executive Officer and Executive Directors in 2024 (2023: none).

Given the breadth and depth of State government activities, related parties transact with the Victorian public sector in a manner 
consistent with other members of the public e.g. stamp duty and other government fees and charges. Further employment of 
processes within the Victorian public sector occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Public Administration Act 2004 
and Codes of Conduct and Standards issued by the Victorian Public Sector Commission. Procurement processes occur on terms 
and conditions consistent with the HealthShare Victoria and Victorian Government Procurement Board requirements. 

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with Beechworth Health Services, there were no related party transactions that 
involved key management personnel, their close family members or their personal business interests. No provision has been 
required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties. There were no related party 
transactions with Cabinet Ministers required to be disclosed in 2024 (2023: none).
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Note 8.5: Remuneration of Auditors

Total Total
 2024 2023
 $'000 $'000

Victorian Auditor-General's Office
Audit of the financial statements 25                             24                             
Total remuneration of auditors 25                             24                             

Note 8.6: Events occurring after the balance sheet date

 There have been no further events occurring after balance date that require additional disclosure.
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Note 8.7 Joint arrangements

 Principal Activity 2024 2023
 % %
Hume Region Health Alliance 4.64 4.38

2024 2023
$'000 $'000 

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 532                            546                            
Receivables 109                            62                              
Prepaid expenses 14                              14                              
Total current assets 655                            622                            

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 26                              21                              
Total non-current assets 26                              21                              

Total assets 681                            643                            

Current liabilities
Payables 281                            233                            
Monies in Trust 90                              136                            
Lease Liability 3                                3                                
Total current liabilities 374                            372                            

Non-current liabilities
Lease Liability 10                              11                              
Total non-current liabilities 10                              11                              

Total liabilities 384                            383                            

Net assets 297                            260                            

Equity
Accumulated surplus 297                            260                            
Total equity 297                            260                            

Ownership Interest

Information Technology Services

Beechworth Health Servicess interest in assets and liabilities of the above joint arrangements are detailed below. The amounts are 
included in the consolidated financial statements under their respective categories:
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Note 8.7 Joint arrangements

2024 2023
$'000 $'000 

Revenue
Operating Activities 320                            290                            
Non Operating Activities 24                              14                              
Capital Purpose Income 36                              10                              
Total revenue 380                            314                            

Expenses
Employee Benefits 133                            113                            
Other Expenses from Continuing Operations 207                            175                            
Depreciation 9                                10                              
Capital Purpose Expenditure 20                              25                              
Total expenses 369                            323                            

Net result 11                              (9)                               

Figures obtained from the unaudited Hume Region Health Alliance Joint Venture annual report.

Contingent liabilities and capital commitments
There are no known contingent liabilities or capital commitments held by the joint arrangements at balance date.

Beechworth Health Servicess interest in revenues and expenses resulting from joint arrangements are detailed below.  The 
amounts are included in the Consolidated financial statements under their respective categories:
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Note 8.8: Equity
Contributed capital

Property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus

Note 8.9: Economic dependency

Contributions by owners (that is, contributed capital and its repayment) are treated as equity transactions and, therefore, do not 
form part of the income and expenses of the Beechworth Health Services. 

Transfers of net assets arising from administrative restructurings are treated as distributions to or contributions by owners. 
Transfers of net liabilities arising from administrative restructurings are treated as distributions to owners. 

Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions or distributions or that have been designated as contributed capital are 
also treated as contributed capital

The property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus arises on the revaluation of infrastructure, land and buildings.  The 
revaluation surplus is not normally transferred to accumulated surpluses/(deficits) on derecognition of the relevant asset.

Beechworth Health Services is a public health service governed and managed in accordance with the Health Services Act 1988 
and its results form part of the Victorian General Government consolidated financial position.  Beechworth Health Service 
provides essential services and is predominantly dependent on the continued financial support of the State Government, 
particularly the Department of Health, and the Commonwealth funding via the National Health Reform Agreement  (NHRA).  The 
State of Victoria plans to continue Beechworth Health Services operations and on that basis, the financial statements have been 
prepared on a going concern basis.




